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FY2013 HIGHLIGHTS

2

BC Iron achieved a strong financial year 2013 result with improved
operational revenues and profits. For the year, underlying NPAT was
$71.4M, up $20.8M on the prior period.
July 2012

Completed the final upgrade to the main crushing plant at the Nullagine Joint
Venture with Fortescue Metals Group.

August 2012

Formed a strategic alliance with Cleveland Mining Company Limited to acquire and
develop early stage iron ore projects in Brazil.

September 2012

Declared a fully franked maiden dividend of 15 cents per share in relation to financial
year 2012, which was paid in October 2012.

December 2012

Completed a transaction with Fortescue Metals Group to increase BC Iron’s
interest in the Nullagine Joint Venture from 50% to 75%, increase capacity
available to the joint venture on Fortescue’s rail and port infrastructure to 6Mtpa
and prepay rail and port charges. Entered into a USD130M debt facility and
completed a $47M institutional placement at a premium to fund this transaction.

January 2013

Closed an oversubscribed share purchase plan to raise $10M.

February 2013

Declared a fully franked interim dividend of 5 cents per share in relation to the
6 months ended 31 December 2012, which was paid in March 2013.

March 2013

Joined the S&P/ASX 300.

April 2013

Achieved the post transaction nameplate target production rate at NJV of 6Mtpa of
iron ore produced and exported.

May 2013

Appointed Morgan Ball as Managing Director.

June 2013

Posted record annual production at the NJV of 5.0Mt (BC Iron share 3.15Mt)
for financial year 2013 and further strengthened BC Iron’s balance sheet with
an additional loan repayment of USD30M.
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OUR COMPANY
BC Iron Limited (“BC Iron” or the “Company”) is an iron ore development and mining company listed on
the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX: BCI) with key assets in the Pilbara region of Western Australia.
The Company’s core focus is the Nullagine Iron Ore Project (“NJV”), a 75:25 joint venture with Fortescue
Metals Group Limited (“Fortescue”) located approximately 55km north of Fortescue’s Christmas Creek operation.
The NJV produces the quality, highly sought-after Bonnie Fines Direct Shipping Ore (“DSO”) sinter feed,
recognised for its ore quality and low contaminants.
The NJV is operated by BC Iron and uses Fortescue’s infrastructure to rail the Bonnie Fines product from Christmas
Creek to Port Hedland where it is shipped directly to customers overseas. The NJV currently hosts a probable ore
reserve of 37.2 million tonnes at 57.1% Fe from within a mineral resource of 117.7 million tonnes at 53.4% Fe.
BC Iron has had outstanding success since listing in December 2006. Iron ore exports commenced in February
2011 and the Company has met each of its guidance targets since this date.
In the year to 30 June 2013, the NJV shipped 5.0 million wet metric tonnes (“Mt”) of ore to overseas customers.
Since inception, the NJV has exported more than 10Mt of iron ore. In April 2013, BC Iron achieved a
significant growth milestone with the NJV reaching its nameplate production rate of 6 million wet metric
tonnes per annum (“Mtpa”) ahead of schedule.
2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Revenue from continuing operations

$million

0.4

1.5

19.1

204.5

325.3

Underlying net profit/(loss) after tax

$million

(1.3)

(1.4)

1.0

50.6

71.4

Net profit/(loss) after tax

$million

(1.3)

(1.4)

1.0

50.1

48.8

Basic earnings per share

Cents

(2.2)

(1.7)

1.1

51.1

42.9

Dividends paid per share*

Cents

Share price (last trade day of financial year)

A$

-

-

-

-

20.0

1.12

1.62

3.05

2.60

3.23

*2013 dividend payment consists of a full year dividend of 15 cents per share (“cps”) in relation to financial year 2012 paid in
October 2012 and an interim dividend of 5 cps in relation to the 6 months ended 31 December 2012 paid in March 2013.

A significant component of BC Iron’s success in the 2013 financial year is the Company’s high-achieving and
innovative culture, which has resulted in a number of operational achievements, seen strong cash flows being
generated and exceptional value delivered to shareholders.
BC Iron’s achievements to date are the foundation for its successes in the future. While the Company remains focused on
maximising operational outcomes and delivering sustainable franked dividends, BC Iron is also well positioned to consider
value accretive growth opportunities in a measured way.
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BC IRON’S ACHIEVEMENTS TO
DATE ARE THE FOUNDATION FOR
ITS SUCCESSES IN THE FUTURE

6

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders
The 2013 financial year was one of substantial achievement for BC Iron across production,
financial performance and business strategy. The market capitalisation of the Company increased
from around $270 million at 1 July 2012 to over $500 million at the date of this report.
It was pleasing to declare a maiden fully franked dividend of 15 cents per share based
on financial year 2012 earnings. The interim fully franked (5 cps) and final fully franked
dividend (30 cps) declared in relation to the 2013 financial year underscores the Board’s
resolve to return value to shareholders.
It was also pleasing to witness BC Iron entering the S&P/ASX300 Index for the first time.
Integral to the Company’s achievement is management and the Board’s focus on
production, operating costs, maintaining a solid balance sheet and creating and returning value to shareholders.
In line with production goals and the business strategy of maximising operations at the NJV, BC Iron acquired a further
25% interest from JV partner, Fortescue, increasing BC Iron’s interest to 75% in the NJV. The transaction also saw rail and
port capacity provided to the NJV by Fortescue increase from 5Mtpa to 6Mtpa, thus taking BC Iron’s attributable forecast
production to 4.5Mtpa.
Shortly following the acquisition, the NJV reached the increased production rate of 6Mtpa in April 2013.
The commercial and operating relationship BC Iron shares with Fortescue is strong and effective and we must thank Fortescue
for its cooperation throughout the year. They have been a great JV partner.
BC Iron also strengthened relationships with other key stakeholders including the Palyku People and communities within the
Nullagine area where we operate. We are ever mindful of operating in a respectful, sustainable manner and in harmony
with these important stakeholders.
Consistent with financial discipline, the Board oversees a prudent balance sheet, effective cost management and strong cash
flows. At the balance date, BC Iron had cash of $138.5 million, which came after exceeding scheduled debt repayments.
During the year Mike Young, the initial Managing Director of the Company, stepped down after a period of seven
years. Mike made an exceptional contribution to the Company and the Board has no hesitation in acknowledging this
contribution and thanks him for it. I recall quite fondly the very early days of BC Iron when Mike and myself were on the
road raising the start-up capital. Mike remains on the Board as a Non-Executive Director.
Morgan Ball (former BC Iron Finance Director) was appointed Managing Director in May 2013. It was pleasing to be able to
promote from within the ranks of the Company.
In conclusion, I would like to acknowledge the ongoing efforts of staff, management, contractors and suppliers throughout
this record year. I look forward to the coming year as BC Iron continues to fortify its status as a strong, consistent and
credible iron ore producer.
Yours faithfully

Tony Kiernan
Chairman
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
Dear Fellow Shareholders
It is a privilege to report on BC Iron’s performance in my first report to you as Managing Director.
Pivotal to our business model is the NJV with Fortescue. In December 2012, we increased our
interest in the NJV from 50% to 75% and the production capacity to 6Mtpa (BC Iron share
4.5Mtpa), using Fortescue’s rail and port infrastructure.
This landmark transaction was a rare opportunity to increase exposure to a low cost, high
margin producing mine on terms that were suitable to both the parties involved. As a result,
BC Iron almost doubled its attributable iron ore production from 2.5Mtpa to 4.5Mtpa from
the start of financial year (“FY”) 2014.
As with the previous financial year, our focus on our business strategy throughout the
reporting period did not waiver. As such, we delivered on our promises to:
• Expand the footprint of BC Iron in the Pilbara;
• A ssess opportunities to maximise the mine life at the NJV;
• Consider strategic exploration and development partnerships in other iron ore jurisdictions; and
• Use cash flow to grow and provide returns to shareholders.
This clear business strategy, supported by our Board, management, staff, contractors and major stakeholders, ensures that
we are all working together and our core values of integrity, safety, unity and leadership are practised daily. BC Iron has a
high-achieving and innovative culture, underpinning our continued ability to deliver on commitments.
Our robust balance sheet, conservative gearing and desire to maintain dividend returns to shareholders positions BC Iron well
for the coming financial year. In addition, our promotion to the S&P/ASX300 Index has significantly enhanced our liquidity
and increased awareness of BC Iron with larger institutions.
It is very pleasing to note that further to these achievements, FY2013 has seen BC Iron release an outstanding set of financial
results complemented by a positive total shareholder return performance on both an overall and comparative basis.

NULLAGINE JOINT VENTURE
The NJV remains our flagship asset, originally joint ventured with Fortescue in 2009. The NJV accesses Fortescue’s worldclass infrastructure at Christmas Creek, 55km south of the mine, to rail ore to Port Hedland where it is then shipped directly
to customers in China. Fortescue also provides marketing services to the NJV, lending strong support in shipping, logistics,
scheduling and marketing.
Our shareholders will be aware that in December 2012, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement with
Fortescue to purchase 25% of its NJV interest and increase the NJV’s infrastructure access to 6Mtpa. I would like to thank all those
involved in executing this transaction. It was a time-intensive exercise but one that clearly demonstrates the outstanding calibre of
our professional and highly committed people. This was an example of the best type of M&A transaction in that it was a “winwin” for both the parties involved. As we have seen since its execution, it has proven to be an excellent opportunity for BC Iron
and its shareholders.
The ongoing success of the NJV can also be attributed to our strong and progressive relationship with Fortescue. This relationship
became even stronger in FY2013 and the quantitative benefits are evident in the record export rates and very competitive ore sales
prices achieved during the reporting period. The qualitative benefits are also great. Fortescue is very supportive of BC Iron in providing
feedback and advice based on their relevant experiences around marketing, operations and procurement to improve the NJV.
By any measure, we have a successful joint venture and the strong cash flows being generated provide the opportunity to
consider new projects that increase value for shareholders.
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GROWTH

OPERATIONS

BC Iron strives to achieve consistent shareholder returns.
We will continue to assess options to expand our business,
but will only do so in a measured way and on appropriate
terms. Given the strength of our existing operation, we are in
the fortunate position of being able to assess opportunities
critically and remain comfortable “walking away” if the metrics
are not attractive for our shareholders. With this mindset, our
focus for future growth will continue to be both organic and
through acquisition.

BC Iron delivered strong operational results in FY2013. We
achieved our annual production guidance and delivered on all
key metrics. The NJV reached its increased forecast nameplate
production rate of 6Mtpa ahead of schedule during fourth
quarter of FY2013 and we finished the year with record annual
iron ore shipments of approximately 5 million tonnes (“Mt”).

The Company’s beneficiation project is focused on assessing
the long term, ultimate mine life of the NJV operation through
identifying the entire mineable iron ore inventory on the NJV
tenure. Throughout FY2013, BC Iron undertook studies and
evaluations as part of this assessment, specifically targeting
the potential for beneficiation of lower grade iron ore within
the existing resource and beyond. The opportunity to upgrade
both already mined, lower-grade iron ore and additional
iron ore resources to the Bonnie Fines specification could
potentially extend the mine life of the NJV from the current
7 years to approximately 10-12 years.
Our growth strategy also focuses on later stage resource
development and production opportunities in the Pilbara and
elsewhere in Australia. I have real faith that the entrepreneurial
spirit and strength of the mining industry will continue to be
maintained through all the stages of a volatile commodity cycle
and believe that in the iron ore space, we will see a number of
different models to develop projects and access infrastructure to
facilitate the ongoing supply to end user markets.
In addition, during August 2012, BC Iron entered into a
strategic alliance with Cleveland Mining Limited to assess and
if appropriate, acquire and develop greenfield exploration
iron ore projects in Brazil. Although this relationship is in its
early days, the alliance does represent the opportunity for
the Company to potentially gain exposure to higher risk and
higher reward exploration projects, which do not demand
significant capital investment in the short term and complement
our focus on the closer to home, latter stage production
opportunities in our growth funnel.
As we assess our growth opportunities, we need to be very
cognisant of the main challenges facing our business. I see
these as monitoring and accessing potential infrastructure
solutions in our preferred operating locations as well as
staying abreast of the key external factors that can impact
our business as an iron ore producer. These include the
medium and long term outlook for China and the broader
steel industry, which will impact future demand, as well
as the supply side influences such as increased iron ore
production out of a number of regions. These factors will
contribute to an associated impact on the iron ore price
and the AUD/USD exchange rate. While we cannot control
these external factors, by remaining up to date on these
issues and the associated economics, we are well placed to
appropriately manage the business within our expectations.
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Mining and exports continued to ramp up throughout the
year and, during the first quarter (“Q1”) of FY2013, total NJV
exports passed 5Mt, a rapid increase from our first iron ore
exports in February 2011. To date, the NJV has shipped more
than 10Mt.
Following the Fortescue transaction, additional capacity was
installed within the crushing and road haulage activities to
achieve the increased nameplate production rate of 6Mtpa
plus additional ‘sprint’ capacity as required. The village
capacity at site was also increased by a further 64 rooms.
While we achieved a number of milestones and maintained
costs in a steady manner despite an inflationary environment,
FY2013 was not without its challenges.
Operationally, production metrics from the first half of the
year were behind expectations due to a combination of
crusher performance post a planned upgrade, and the
surface miners entering a section of the Outcamp ore
zone that had lower iron and higher deleterious elements
than expected. Although production was impacted, it is
pleasing to note that we made up for this in the second
half of FY2013 and still achieved all our market guidance
targets – a testament to our highly skilled personnel across
the business. In addition, the team has learned from these
challenges and applied them to our planning going forward.
BC Iron has well and truly transitioned from an exploration
and development company to a fully operational iron ore
producer. Our mandate now is to continue to maximise
production and manage our costs and balance sheet whilst
taking the Company to a new level of achievement.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
From a financial perspective, we started FY2013 with the
release of a strong FY2012 result, reporting an EBITDA of
$71M and an underlying NPAT of $51M. This enabled
the Company to declare a maiden fully franked full year
dividend, in relation to FY2012, of 15 cents per share at a
30% payout ratio.
This financial year closed just as successfully with BC Iron
reporting a record EBITDA of $115M and an underlying NPAT
of $71M. It is also pleasing to have declared a final fully
franked dividend in relation to FY2013 of 30 cents per share
which, when combined with the interim fully franked dividend
of 5 cents per share paid in March 2013, equates to a
payout ratio on underlying NPAT of 60%.
As part of the Fortescue transaction, BC Iron entered into its first

material debt facility when it borrowed USD130M, and as a
result, reported a net debt position of $78M at 31 December
2012. In keeping with our approach to disciplined capital
management, it was pleasing, on the back of our strong
operational performance during the second half of FY2013, to
pay a significant portion of this debt back ahead of schedule
and to report a net cash position of $35M at 30 June 2013.
It is also pleasing to note that against the backdrop of a difficult
market for the resources sector, BC Iron has performed
very favourably on a total shareholder return basis both
in an overall and comparative context. We believe this
performance has been driven by:
• The strength of our management team;
• Our continued strong operational performance and
delivery to guidance;
• The attractive margins achieved at the NJV and its low
capital intensity;
• The completion of the Fortescue transaction;
• A measured growth model; and
• An attractive payout ratio of fully franked dividends.
I and the Board look forward to continuing our focus on
shareholder value in the future.

PEOPLE
We would not be in such a strong position if it were not for
the vision and guidance of our Board and in particular, former
Managing Director, Mr Mike Young.
I would like to acknowledge and thank Mike for his commitment
to the Company. I have mentioned the high calibre of the
people within our business on several occasions and Mike
is a leading example. He is a great friend and colleague
to me, his enthusiasm and passion is immeasurable, and he
has been integral to the Company’s success to date. Mike
has shown a remarkable ability to recognise the strengths and
skills of others to take BC Iron forward.

CONCLUSION
BC Iron continues to mature in many ways across the business.
The Company has transitioned from a flexible exploration
company in its fledging years to operating within a more
structured framework, typical of Western Australia’s and the
world’s successful mining companies.
Demonstrating this new level of maturity includes our
corporate responsibilities such as ongoing transparent
communication with our shareholders, a focus on
shareholder return, balance sheet management, measured
growth and the productive, safe and sustainable running
of our operation. Executing these responsibilities at a high
level has helped us attract broader support from the broker
and investment community. This support from the capital
markets is genuinely appreciated and we are dedicated
to meeting the high expectations for the Company in the
coming months and years.
As Managing Director, I am proud to champion this
approach for BC Iron and believe it is this level of corporate
sophistication that will secure new opportunities for the
Company in the future.
Lastly, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our
shareholders for their continuing support of the Company.
Looking ahead, there are a number of opportunities for BC
Iron in FY2014 and I look forward to updating shareholders
on these over the next 12 months.

Morgan Ball
Managing Director

I would also like to thank our Chairman, Mr Tony Kiernan,
and the Board, all of whom have been a great support to
me in both my previous role as Finance Director and now as
Managing Director. Under Tony’s guidance, the Board has
held its course since the Company listed on the ASX in 2006
and this belief and strategy has certainly been justified.
Finally, I would like to acknowledge the outstanding work of
all of our employees and contractors as well as the insight and
support provided by Fortescue and our primary off-take partner,
Henghou Industries. We have excellent, open relationships with
our stakeholders and maintaining a partnering approach with
them is essential to our ongoing success.
While on the subject of our people, I am pleased to introduce
a new recognition program for BC Iron employees to celebrate
and acknowledge an individual’s years of service with the
Company. As a relatively young company, I take great
enjoyment in acknowledging five years of service by
our Chief Operating Officer, Blair Duncan, as the first of
hopefully, many recipients of this award.
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DURING FY2013, BC IRON
REMAINED COMMITTED
TO MAXIMISING
PRODUCTION AT THE
NJV AND ACHIEVED
PRODUCTION GUIDANCE
OF 5.0MT

12

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW
The NJV is a 75:25 unincorporated joint venture between BC Iron and Fortescue. The project is located approximately
140km north of Newman in the East Pilbara region of Western Australia with operations situated approximately 55km north
of Fortescue’s Christmas Creek operation.
The NJV commenced operations in November 2010 and completed its first shipment in February 2011. Through
an infrastructure agreement with Fortescue, Bonnie Fines product is transported via Fortescue’s rail infrastructure to the
world’s largest iron ore export port, Port Hedland, where it is shipped to customers overseas.
During FY2013, BC Iron remained committed to maximising production at the NJV and achieved production guidance of
5.0Mt despite unseasonal wet weather during the fourth quarter. The NJV also reached its increased nameplate production rate
of 6Mtpa ahead of schedule.
The increased production rate was a result of the December 2012 transaction with Fortescue where BC Iron increased its
interest in the NJV from 50% to 75% and the NJV’s infrastructure access was increased from 5Mtpa to 6Mtpa.
The Company’s share of the 6Mtpa nameplate is 4.5Mtpa and the NJV is forecast to produce between 5.8Mt and 6.2Mt of
DSO during FY2014. The NJV’s mine plan generally allows for the operation to run at a rate of up to 6.5Mtpa for nine months
of the year and at 4.5Mtpa for three month of the year during the January to March wet season in the Pilbara.

NULLAGINE
Nullagine

SHAW RIVER CID
PROJECT
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PROJECT
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Bonnie
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Haul Road

Warrigal

Village
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MINING, CRUSHING AND SCREENING

RAIL HAULAGE AND PORT SERVICES

The iron ore at the NJV occurs at surface, resulting in a simple
mining and crushing process and low stripping ratios. The NJV
mine plan currently comprises four mining areas – Outcamp,
Warrigal, Bonnie East and Coongan. Mining is currently
underway at Outcamp and Warrigal. Bonnie East is scheduled
to commence in FY2015 and Coongan in FY2017. Mining
is undertaken by WATPAC, utilising Wirtgen and Vermeer
surface miners.

The Pilbara Infrastructure (“TPI”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
Fortescue, provides contract rail haulage and port services to
the NJV. The Bonnie Fines product is railed from the Christmas
Creek RLF to the Herb Elliot Port in Port Hedland, where it is
exported overseas to customers.

During FY2013, approximately 5.0Mt was mined at the NJV
compared to 3.5Mt in FY2012.
Crushing and screening is also undertaken by WATPAC,
utilising two separate crushing circuits. An upgrade of the
main circuit was completed during FY2013 and a smaller,
mobile crusher was also installed and commissioned to
facilitate the increase in NJV production to 6Mtpa.
During FY2013, a total of 5.0Mt of run of mine ore was
crushed, compared to 3.5Mt in FY12. Low grade ore is also
being stockpiled for future blending or use following the
finalisation of ongoing beneficiation studies.

ORE HAULAGE
BC Iron’s ore haulage is via a private 58km bitumen haul road
between the NJV mine site and Fortescue’s Christmas Creek
Rail Loadout Facility (“RLF”) where the ore is loaded onto trains
for rail haulage to Port Hedland.
The Bonnie Fines product is trucked by a fleet of eight
Toll PowerTrans Pit Haulers (approximately 360t payload),
supplemented with a ‘bigfoot’ rig (160t payload). Three
Kenworth prime movers with Howard and Porter trailers
(175t payload), operated by contractor Roadtrim, provide
additional capacity.
Total ore haulage for the reporting period was 5.0Mt,
compared to 3.8Mt in FY12.

THE BONNIE FINES PRODUCT
IS A QUALITY, HIGHLY
SOUGHT-AFTER DSO SINTER
FEED RECOGNISED FOR ITS
LOW CONTAMINANTS AND
BLENDING PROPERTIES
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During FY2013, the NJV railed a total of 5.0Mt of Bonnie
Fines – a 43% increase from 3.5Mt in FY2012.
5.0Mt of Bonnie Fines product was exported on 28 cape
size vessels in FY2013, compared to 3.6Mt in FY2012.
BC Iron’s share of exports for FY2013 was 3.15Mt, up
from 1.78Mt in FY2012.

PRODUCTION COSTS
The Company’s actual free on board cash operating costs for
the year were approximately $38 per tonne, a decrease of
28% compared to FY2012. This is attributable to a focus on
cost management, the fixed cost component being spread
over increased tonnes and the impact of the prepayment for
rail haulage and port services made as part of the transaction
with Fortescue in December 2012.

MARKETING
The Bonnie Fines product is a quality, highly sought-after DSO
sinter feed. It has been recognised for its low contaminants
and blending properties that have contributed to improved
productivity at a number of customer sinter plants. This was
reinforced in June 2013 when BC Iron’s senior management
visited a number of customers in China and received excellent
feedback in relation to the product.
BC Iron expanded its customer base in FY2013. This expanded
customer base together with Fortescue’s continued marketing
services to the NJV strengthened BC Iron’s knowledge and
understanding of the Chinese steel market.

BC Iron Limited Annual Report 2013
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EXPLORATION AND
RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT
Nullagine Joint Venture
During the 2013 reporting period, BC Iron remodelled the
Outcamp 3 deposit with a better understanding of the geology
gained from mining the Outcamp 1 and 2 deposits. Additions
were also made to the resource inventory with new estimates
over deposits regional to the main operation.
Reverse circulation drilling was conducted across many of the
regional tenements resulting in some encouraging results that
will be assessed for infill and extensional drilling.
During the reporting period, 317 holes for 4,944 metres were
drilled across 18 prospects in 14 different tenements. All
drilling activity targeted channel iron deposit ore with similar
characteristics to that currently mined and exported.
Geological mapping and rock chip sampling identified several
new areas of mineralisation throughout the tenement package.
The most notable is the Tower prospect - a continuation of a
previously mapped palaeochannel 10kms north of current
operations. The exploration target associated with this prospect
is 20-30Mt at 45-55%Fe.
It is anticipated that further drilling and resource estimation work
in FY2014 will replace the tonnages depleted through mining.

Bungaroo Project
After first pass drilling, the iron potential of the Bungaroo Project
was assessed to be low in grade and tonnage and no plans to
explore the remaining untested areas were made. Accordingly,
the tenements were relinquished in April 2013.
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CORPORATE
During the 2013 financial year, BC Iron continued to focus on the
NJV operation and opportunities to further grow the Company:
• On 10 December 2012, the Company entered into a
transaction with Fo1rtescue. Effective from 1 January 2013,
the transaction increased BC Iron’s interest in the NJV to
75% and increased the capacity available to the NJV on
Fortescue’s rail and port infrastructure to 6Mtpa. It included
a one off prepayment of rail haulage and port charges
for 3.5Mt of BC Iron’s share of production. The transaction
was completed on 18 December 2012 with total
consideration paid to Fortescue of $190M, plus a limited
price participation arrangement payable to Fortescue if
certain iron ore price conditions are met. The transaction
was funded by internal cash, a $47M underwritten
institutional placement and USD130M loan facility.
• On 10 December 2012, the Company announced a share
purchase plan (“SPP”) to raise $10M from eligible BC
Iron shareholders. The SPP closed oversubscribed on 16
January 2013, with the Company issuing 3.2M shares at
$3.04 on 24 January 2013.
• On 19 December 2012, Jamie Gibson resigned as NonExecutive Director. The Company thanked Jamie for his
effective contribution to the Board during his tenure.
• On 10 May 2013, BC Iron’s former Finance Director
Morgan Ball was appointed as the Company’s new
Managing Director, with Mike Young stepping down
from the position. Mike remains on the Board as a
Non-Executive Director.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
The transaction with Fortescue was a material business
development initiative undertaken by BC Iron during the
financial year. Post this transaction, the business focus was
on achieving the increased production rate at the NJV.
With the Nullagine operation now running smoothly and
profitably, BC Iron continues to look for growth beyond the
existing reserves.
The Company’s primary growth focus remains the NJV. Project
Inventory is the name given to the study assessing mine life
extensions at the NJV operation, including from expansion of
DSO on the NJV tenure and beneficiation of lower grade iron
ore to a saleable product.
Work continues on this low-grade beneficiation initiative.
Metallurgical laboratory test work completed in the March
quarter highlighted that Fe grades of approximately 50% could
be successfully upgraded to Bonnie Fines specification with a
potential yield of approximately 60%.
A beneficiation trial is expected to commence at the NJV within
the next month. The trial will utilise a simple crush and screen
process to treat material from the existing low-grade stockpile
and newly mined low-grade material to produce a beneficiated
product at a similar specification to the Bonnie Fines product
stream. The beneficiated product will be transported to Port
Hedland as a discrete parcel where it will be blended with
Bonnie Fines for sale. The trial is expected to be completed
by the end of the 2013 calendar year, followed by sale of the
blended product in early 2014.

The aim of the trial is to achieve similar or better results as the
laboratory work and on a larger scale. Ultimately, if proof of
concept is achieved, the existing mine plan and a number of
regional mesas will be re-assessed for beneficiation feedstock
thus increasing the mine life of the NJV.
In addition to the organic opportunities above, the Company
is also in the fortunate position of being able to assess
acquisition opportunities. The Company’s priority for this
growth option is to focus on the Pilbara and Western Australia,
and any opportunities will be assessed in a disciplined
manner and only considered in the event that they demonstrate
material accretion for shareholders.
The Company recognises that for growth alternatives there
needs to be a pipeline of projects at various stages of
development and is therefore prepared to invest in greenfields
exploration tenure through to operating mines that show
strong potential to be accretive to the Company on reserve,
production and financial measures.
In August 2012, BC Iron entered into an alliance with
Cleveland Mining Limited (“Cleveland”) to potentially source,
acquire and co-develop new iron ore projects in Brazil. In
March 2013, BC Iron and Cleveland geologists reviewed
numerous grass roots projects in the states of Minas Gerais
and Bahia. This extensive project review resulted in the
execution of two Memoranda of Understanding (“MOU”)
in early May 2013 with a party holding title to multiple
concessions in both states. The MOUs were converted to fullyagreed long form documents in September 2013. Planning is
now underway for early stage exploration work on the tenure.

BC Iron Limited Annual Report 2013

17

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
In the 2013 financial year, the direction and priorities for
continuous improvement in safety performance across the
business were aligned to the BC Iron Safety Strategic Plan.
During FY2013, three lost time injuries were recorded.
Safety performance audits of major contractors demonstrated
improvements, with training and competency showing the most
significant improvement.
A “Healthy Lifestyle” programme and a “Learning From
Incidents” programme were also launched during the reporting
period. Both programmes raise health and safety awareness
through communication and discussion.
The inaugural BC Iron Safety Forum was held in May 2013
with personnel from BC Iron and contracting organisations
attending. The event included presentations from keynote speakers, workshops and a safety leadership panel
discussion. The ideas and concepts raised at the forum will be
used to shape the growth of BC Iron’s safety culture.
A survey on safety perceptions was conducted in August and
September 2013, providing insight into the safety culture of the
BC Iron community.

HUMAN RESOURCES
BC Iron understands that its people and culture are behind
its success as a business. The Company values its people
and offers training and development opportunities to foster
a high-achieving and innovative culture. BC Iron’s aim as an
organisation is to ensure it lives up to its values of integrity,
safety, unity and leadership and that its people operate
according to this vision on a daily basis.
BC Iron’s positive work culture is reflected in low voluntary
turnover, which is currently 2%. For the 2013 financial year,
BC Iron’s workforce grew from 57 to 63 full-time and casual staff.
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In FY2014, BC Iron aims to continue to work toward improving
Indigenous representation in its workforce, including initiatives
such as the Company’s Indigenous Employment Day held
annually in Nullagine.

NATIVE TITLE AND HERITAGE
Promoting sustainable partnerships with traditional owner
groups where BC Iron operates remained a key component of
the Company’s activities in FY2013.
Increased opportunities for Aboriginal employment, particularly
in relation to sustainable business development, demonstrated
a growing maturity for the Company.
In May 2013, BC Iron initiated its first Indigenous business
contract with the Nyiyaparli People through their joint venture
with the Indigenous Construction Resource Group Pty Ltd.
The contract involved the purchase of a water cart to provide
dust suppression water at the Fortescue end of BC Iron’s haul
road that connects with the Christmas Creek RLF. A similar
business opportunity is being sought with the Palyku people
in collaboration with the Company’s mining contractor,
WATPAC.
The development of an Environment and Heritage
Management System (“EHMS”) through FY2013 with a
view to implementation in the second quarter of FY2014
demonstrates the Company’s continuing commitment to protect
the NJV’s rich cultural heritage.
The EHMS promotes a culture of continuous improvement and
proactive management of environmental and heritage issues
and will be an invaluable tool in the future as BC Iron continues
to foster sustainable partnerships with its Aboriginal stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENT
As the NJV matured into its second year of full production in
FY2013, the management of the Company’s environmental
risk profile is being met through the EHMS which provides
the business with the necessary tools to meet compliance
requirements while building a culture of continuous
improvement.
Efforts to minimise BC Iron’s ecological footprint across
the business continued during the reporting period. These
included:
• the establishment of an integrated landfill/recycling yard
and bioremediation facility on site;
• the initiation of a beneficiation project with the potential to
significantly reduce waste dump profiles; and
• recycling paper and printer cartridges in the head office in
Perth.
During FY2013, BC Iron also continued to focus on a range of
studies in support of its proposed extension of mining activities
into the Bonnie East and Warrigal North prospects. These
included hydrological surveys of the Bonnie Creek drainage
system and adjacent catchment areas, subterranean fauna
assessments and a review of the NJV’s mine closure plan.

COMMUNITY
BC Iron is committed to actively engaging with local
communities to promote sustainable development. This was
demonstrated throughout FY2013 by fostering ongoing
relationships with community stakeholders and developing
new opportunities.
Supporting cultural awareness through engagement with
Aboriginal communities is an important part of BC Iron’s
approach to sustainable development. This includes not only
seeking employment, training and business opportunities with
key stakeholder groups such as the Palyku and Nyiyaparli,
but also broader engagement with Aboriginal communities
beyond the East Pilbara.

The Company’s ongoing partnership with the Yirra Yaakin
Aboriginal Theatre Company (“Yirra Yaakin”) continued
to provide ample opportunities to support a Perth-based
company with links across a broad spectrum of the Indigenous
arts. In celebration of the mutual benefits gained through this
partnership, Yirra Yaakin and BC Iron joined forces in May
2013 to nominate for a Creative Partnerships Australia Award.
BC Iron was also proud to support Yirra Yaakin by sponsoring
two plays – Beginnings, an opening event at the 2013
Perth International Arts Festival; and Fifty Shades of Black,
performed at the Perth Cultural Centre.
Throughout the year, BC Iron continued to contribute to the
scholarship fund designated for the Palyku as part of the
Mining Agreement. Financial assistance delivered through
the fund gave a representative of the Palyku People the
opportunity to attend a specialised ballet school and go on
to win a junior state championship. Support through the fund
allowed another Palyku person to attend boarding school in
Geraldton and subsequently represent a Western Australian
state football team.
The Company’s ties with the Nullagine community also
continued to strengthen, particularly through ongoing support
for the local primary school. This included assisting Yirra
Yaakin with presenting “Good Lovin” at the school, which
carried with it important messages relating to health and wellbeing, and supporting “KaboomToons” to return to the school
to deliver their special brand of art workshops to the students.
BC Iron followed its inaugural Employment/Community
Day roadshow event held in Nullagine in June 2012 with a
similar event in Marble Bar in September 2012, taking the
Company and its key contractors into another local community
to showcase the NJV and identify potential employment,
training and small business opportunities. These events will be
conducted on an annual basis.
Finally, BC Iron’s continuing alliance with Perth Zoo through
a three-year partnership to sponsor the Northern Quoll
exhibit has provided valuable support to the conservation
of this threatened species, endemic to the NJV project area.
This campaign has helped raise the profile of this unique
marsupial across BC Iron’s workforce and the potential
threats to its native habitat.
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MINERAL RESOURCES AND ORE RESERVES
AS AT 30 JUNE 2013
Table 1: Ore Reserves NJV (100%)
Ore Reserves
Deposit

Mt

Fe%

CaFe%

Al2O3%

SiO2%

P%

S%

LOI

Proved

18.9

57.3

65.0

1.8

3.0

0.015

0.012

11.8

Probable

18.3

56.9

64.8

2.0

3.0

0.014

0.011

12.2

TOTAL

37.2

57.1

64.9

1.9

3.0

0.015

0.012

12.0

P%

S%

LOI

Table 2: DSO Mineral Resource Estimate NJV (100%)
DSO Mineral Resources by Classification
Deposit

Mt

Measured

21.8

57.2

64.8

2.0

3.1

0.016

0.012

11.8

Indicated

20.2

57.0

64.9

2.0

2.9

0.014

0.011

12.1

6.8

57.0

64.1

2.6

3.9

0.023

0.014

11.1

48.8

57.1

64.7

2.1

3.1

0.016

0.012

11.8

P%

S%

LOI

Inferred
TOTAL

Fe%

CaFe%

Al2O3%

SiO2%

Table 3: CID Mineral Resource Estimate NJV (100%)
CID Mineral Resources by Classification
Deposit

Mt

Fe%

CaFe%

Al2O3%

SiO2%

Measured

31.1

54.7

62.4

2.8

4.1

0.017

0.013

12.4

Indicated

40.0

53.8

61.6

3.3

4.5

0.017

0.012

12.8

Inferred

46.6

52.1

58.8

5.4

6.6

0.024

0.018

11.3

TOTAL

117.7

53.4

60.7

4.0

5.2

0.020

0.015

12.1

*note some rounding of metrics can occur

Notes to the Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves:
• The Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves have been estimated using mined surfaces as of 30 June 2013 and does not
account for mined material since then.
• The Measured and Indicated Mineral Resources are inclusive of those Mineral Resources modified to produce the Ore Reserves.
• The Channel Iron Deposit (CID) Mineral Resource is inclusive of the Direct Shipping Ore (DSO) mineral resource.
• DSO is all material that is mined, dressed and exported with no upgrade or beneficiation.
• Loss of Ignition (LOI) measured at 1000°C.
• Calcined Fe (CaFe) = Fe / (100-LOI) * 100.
• The CID Mineral Resource is reported using a 45% Fe cut-off grade.
• The DSO Mineral Resource is reported using cut-off grades between 52% and 56% Fe. The cut off grades were selected to
achieve a 57% Fe specification grade.
• Mine Production figures may differ from Ore Reserves due to the inclusion of Inferred material and/or low-grade material for blending.

QUALIFYING STATEMENT
This release may include forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on BC Iron’s expectations and
beliefs concerning future events. Forward-looking statements are necessarily subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many
of which are outside the control of BC Iron Limited, which could cause actual results to differ materially from such statements.
BC Iron Limited makes no undertaking to subsequently update the forward-looking statements made in this release to reflect events
after the date of this release.
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JORC COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENT
The information that relates to the Mineral Resource Estimate
at Outcamp, Bonnie East, Coongan, Dandy and Warrigal
has been compiled by Mr Rob Williams who is a Member
of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and
an employee of BC Iron. The resources were first reported
on the ASX on 2 April 2009. Mr Williams has sufficient
experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and
type of deposit under consideration and to the activity that
they are undertaking to qualify as a Competent Persons as
defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves’. Mr Williams consents to the inclusion of his
name in the matters based on their information in the form
and context in which it appears.
The information that relates to the Mineral Resource
Estimate at Warrigal North, Ornamental, Roys, Trig,
Soda and Shaw River has been compiled by Mr Paul
Hogan who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of
Mining and Metallurgy and an employee of BC Iron.
This is a maiden resource estimate for Warrigal North.
Mr Hogan has sufficient experience that is relevant to
the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under
consideration and to the activity that he is undertaking
to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the
2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore
Reserves’. Mr Hogan consents to the inclusion of his
name in the matters based on the information in the
form and context in which it appears.
Mining schedules may differ from Ore Reserves
due to the inclusion of Inferred Resources and low
grade for scheduling purposes.
The information that relates to the Ore Reserve has
been compiled by Mr Joel Van Anen who is an
employee of the Company and a Member of the
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy,
and Mr Blair Duncan who is an employee of the
Company and a Member of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Duncan
has sufficient experience that is relevant to the
style of mineralisation and type of deposit
under consideration and to the activity that
he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent
Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of
the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves’. Mr Van Anen and Mr Duncan
consent to the inclusion in their names in the
matters based on their information in the
form and context in which it appears.
BC Iron Limited Annual Report 2013
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

(ISSUED 27 AUGUST 2013)

The Directors present their report on the results of the consolidated entity (referred hereafter as the Company) consisting of
BC Iron Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during the year ended 30 June 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

DIRECTORS

The principal activities of the Company during the course of
the financial year were mining, crushing and export of direct
shipping iron ore and mineral exploration, focussing primarily
on iron ore deposits near Nullagine, Western Australia.

The names of directors of the Company in office during the
financial year and up to the date of this report are:
Anthony W. Kiernan
Chairman (Non-Executive)
Morgan S. Ball	Managing Director
appointed 10 May 2013,
previously Finance Director
Andrew M. Haslam
Director (Non-Executive)
Malcolm J. McComas Director (Non-Executive)
Terrence W. Ransted
Director (Non-Executive)
Michael C. Young	Director (Non-Executive),
previously Managing Director
Jamie A. Gibson	Director (Non-Executive)
appointed 16 July 2012,
resigned 19 December 2012

There has been no significant change in the nature of the
Company’s activities during the financial year.

BC Iron Limited Board of Directors (L-R): Terry Ransted, Andrew Haslam,
Anthony Kiernan, Malcolm McComas, Morgan Ball, Michael Young.
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DIRECTORS’ QUALIFICATIONS, EXPERIENCE AND SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
Mr Anthony William (Tony) Kiernan LL B

Mr Morgan Scott Ball B Com, CA, FFin

Chairman (Non-Executive) appointed October 2006
Period of office at September 2013 - 6 years and 11 months
Age 62

Managing Director appointed May 2013,
previously Finance Director appointed December 2011
Period of office at September 2013 – 1 year and 9 months
Age 44

Mr Kiernan, formerly a solicitor, has extensive experience in
the management and operation of listed public companies.
He is a director of the following entities, which are listed on
the Australian Securities Exchange:
• Uranium Equities Limited (since 2003) – Chairman;
• Venturex Resources (since 2010) – Chairman;
• Chalice Gold Mines Ltd (since 2007);
• Liontown Resources Ltd (since 2006);
• South Boulder Mines Ltd (since 2013).
Mr Kiernan has not been a director of any other ASX
listed companies during the past three years. Mr Kiernan
is a member of the Audit Committee, and Chairman of the
Remuneration and Diversity Committees.

Mr Ball is a Chartered Accountant with over 20 years of
Australian and international experience in the resources,
logistics and finance industries. He has held various
senior management roles in a number of significant public
companies. Mr Ball was appointed as Managing Director
and CEO of BC Iron Limited in May 2013 and prior to this
was Finance Director of the Company.
Previously, Mr Ball was CFO and Company Secretary of
Indago Resources – an ASX listed company developing the
Nyanzaga gold deposit in northern Tanzania. Mr Ball has
also held senior commercial roles with WMC Resources,
Brambles, P&O and Ernst & Young. Mr Ball is a member of
the Finance Sub-Committee of the Council at Presbyterian
Ladies College in Perth. Mr Ball has not been a director of
any other ASX listed companies during the past three years.
Mr Ball attends committee meetings by invitation.
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Mr Andrew Malcolm (Andy) Haslam
Grad Dip. Min (Ballarat), GAICD

Mr Terrence William (Terry) Ransted B. (App) Sc,
MAusIMM, MGSA

Director (Non-Executive) appointed September 2011
Period of office at September 2013 – 2 years
Age 54

Director (Non-Executive) appointed July 2006
Period of office at September 2013 – 7 years and 2 months
Age 57

Mr Haslam is a mining executive with 28 years of operational
and executive experience in the Australian mining industry.
He is currently Executive General Manager Iron Ore
Operations of Mineral Resources Ltd. He was previously
Managing Director of ASX listed Territory Resources Ltd
and was responsible for managing an iron ore operation
exporting 2 million tonnes per annum of DSO Lump and
Fines in the Northern Territory to Chinese customers. Prior to
this role, he held a number of key operational roles in the
mining contracting industry in Australia. Mr Haslam was also
Managing Director of Vital Metals from 2008-2009.

Mr Ransted is a geologist and a graduate of the Western
Australian Institute of Technology with a Bachelor of Applied
Science and 36 years in the mining industry. Mr Ransted
commenced his career with Hamersley Exploration Pty Limited
exploring for bedded iron ore deposits in the Hamersley
region and in the early 1990’s was responsible for the onsite
management of the drilling, metallurgical sampling, and
geological assessment and interpretation for the Yandicoogina
Pisolite and Marandoo Iron Ore Projects. Mr Ransted is Chief
Geologist for Alkane Resources Ltd, managing the geological
aspects of exploration and development programmes in New
South Wales.

Mr Haslam has not been a director of any other ASX listed
companies during the past three years. Mr Haslam is a member
of the Audit, Risk Management and Remuneration Committees.

Mr Malcolm John McComas BEc, LLB, SF Fin, FAICD

Mr Ransted has not been a director of any other ASX
listed companies during the past three years. Mr Ransted is
Chairman of the Risk Management Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee.

Director (Non-Executive) appointed December 2011
Period of office at September 2013 – 1 year and 9 months
Age 58

Mr Michael Charles (Mike) Young
BSc (Hon), MAusIMM, MAIG, MSEG

Mr McComas has more than 25 years in investment banking
with experience in equity and debt finance, acquisitions,
divestments and privatisations across a range of industry
sectors. He is also a former commercial lawyer. Mr McComas
is the principal of McComas Capital, an investment company
based in Sydney. Most recently, he was a senior advisor and
director of Grant Samuel for 11 years. Prior to that, he was
Managing Director of investment banking at County NatWest
and its successor organisation, Salomon Smith Barney (now
Citigroup) for 10 years and also spent 5 years in various
executive roles with Morgan Grenfell (now Deutsche Bank) in
Melbourne, Sydney and London.
Mr McComas is a director of the following entities:
• Pharmaxis Limited (Chairman) (since 2003);
• Consolidated Minerals Limited (since 2012);
• Saunders International Limited (since 2012);
• Fitzroy River Corporation Limited (Chairman) (since 2012);
and
• Australian Leukaemia & Lymphoma Group (since 2010).
Mr McComas was a director of Ocean Capital Limited, an
entity previously listed on the ASX during the past three years.
He has not been a director of any other ASX listed companies
during the past three years. Mr McComas is Chairman of the
Audit Committee.

Director (Non-Executive) appointed 10 May 2013, previously
Managing Director appointed October 2006
Period of office at September 2013 – 6 years and 11 months
Age 52
Mr Young is a geologist and a graduate of Queens University,
Canada, with a Bachelor of Science (Honors) degree
in Geological Sciences (1985). Mr Young immigrated to
Australia in 1987 and from 1991 he worked for Dominion
Mining Limited concentrating on near-mine exploration and
resource development work. He then moved to work with
Mining and Resource Technology/Golder Associates from
1994 to 2003 where he carried out resource modeling and
feasibility work on a wide variety of deposits and commodities
including 18 months at Portman Mining’s Koolyanobbing Iron
Ore Operations. Mr Young was Exploration Manager at
Cazaly Resources from 2003 to 2005 and was a founding
director of Bannerman Resources Limited (2005 to 2006).
He is a member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists,
the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (CP) and
is Vice-President of the Association of Mining and Exploration
Companies (AMEC). He is also Co-Patron of the St
Bartholomew’s House Foundation.
Mr Young is a director of the following entities:
• Cassini Resources Ltd (Chairman) (since 2011);
• Energy and Minerals Australia Ltd (Chairman) (since 2013).
Mr Young was a director of Waratah Resources Limited from
2011 to 2012. Mr Young has not been a director of any other
ASX listed companies during the past three years. Mr Young is
a member of the Risk Management and Diversity Committees.
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Mr Jamie Alexander Gibson
Director (Non-Executive) appointed 16 July 2012,
resigned 19 December 2012
Mr Gibson has over 20 years investment experience in the
Asia Pacific region and over 10 years in the management
of listed public companies. Mr Gibson joined Regent Pacific
Group (Regent) in April 1996 and was appointed as an
Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of Regent in
January 2002. In May 2002, Mr Gibson became Chief
Executive Officer of Regent. Mr Gibson has spent most of
his professional career with Regent specialising in corporate
finance, direct equity investments and structuring emerging
market investment products. Prior to joining Regent, he
worked at Clifford Chance, Coopers & Lybrand and KPMG.
Mr Gibson has a law degree from Edinburgh University.
Mr Gibson was an alternate director of Venturex Resources
Limited from March 2013 to June 2013. Mr Gibson has not
been a director of any other ASX listed companies during
the past three years.

COMPANY SECRETARIES
The following individuals have acted as Company
Secretary during the year:

Ms Anthea Bird B.Com, CPA, MBA, GAICD
Company Secretary appointed May 2013
Ms Bird is a Certified Practising Accountant with
over 20 years working for large listed companies in
Australia and the United Kingdom. In addition to being
Company Secretary, she is also General Manager –
Finance for the Company.

Ms Linda Edge B.Com
Company Secretary appointed December 2011
Ms Edge is an Accountant who has held a number
of financial roles in the resources industry. In addition
to being Company Secretary, she is also Financial
Controller for the Company.
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The number of meetings held during the year and the number of meetings attended by each director was as follows:
Audit
Committee

Board

Remuneration
Committee

Risk Committee

Nomination
Committee

Diversity
Committee

A

B

A

B

A

B

A

B

A

B

A

B

A W Kiernan

16

17

1

2

-

-

3

3

1

1

1

1

M S Ball

16

17

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

1

-

-

A M Haslam

14

17

2

2

3

3

3

3

1

1

-

-

M J McComas

16

17

2

2

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

T W Ransted

16

17

-

-

3

3

3

3

1

1

-

-

M C Young

17

17

-

-

3

3

-

-

1

1

1

1

J A Gibson

8

11

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

A – Meetings attended
B – Meetings held whilst a director

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
In recognising the need for the high standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of BC Iron Limited support
and have adhered to the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. The
Company’s detailed corporate governance policy statement can be found in the annual report or viewed on the Company’s web
site at www.bciron.com.au.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND BENEFITS
The relevant interest of each director in the shares, performance rights and options over shares issued by the Company at the date
of this report is as follows:
Ordinary shares
Director

Performance rights

Direct

Indirect

471,765

221,589

-

-

M S Ball

-

181,784

-

69,206

A M Haslam

-

-

-

-

M J McComas

-

33,891

-

-

T W Ransted

-

626,492

-

-

M C Young

150,000

211,564

-

-

Total

621,765

1,275,320

-

69,206

A W Kiernan

Direct

Indirect

As at the date of this report Mr McComas is a director of Consolidated Minerals Ltd which hold a relevant interest in the Company
of 23.1%.
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DIVIDENDS
In August 2013, the Directors resolved to pay a final fully
franked dividend for the year ended 30 June 2013 of 30
cents per share. Combined with the interim fully franked
dividend of 5 cents per share paid in March 2013, the
Company has in total declared fully franked dividends for the
year ended 30 June 2013 of 35 cents per share.
In September 2012, the Directors resolved to pay a full year
fully franked dividend for the year ended 30 June 2012 of 15
cents per share. This was paid in October 2012.

REVIEW OF RESULTS AND OPERATIONS
The operations and results of the Company for the financial
year are reviewed below. This review includes information
on the financial position of the Company, and its business
strategies and prospects for future financial years.

a. Review of Operations
The Company is involved in iron ore production and export,
focussing on the Nullagine Iron Ore Joint Venture (“NJV”) in the
Pilbara region of Western Australia, a 75:25 joint venture with
Fortescue Metals Group Limited (“Fortescue”).
The Company has had an outstanding year, announcing record
production, increasing dividend returns to shareholders, executing
a transaction with Fortescue to move to 75% ownership of the
NJV and increasing access to infrastructure capacity.
The Company is now set to move into the next phase
of development through continuing strong operational
performance, an ongoing focus on shareholder return and the
measured consideration of business development opportunities.
The Company’s primary focus for growth is in the Pilbara region
of Western Australia leveraging of its existing operation and
knowledge base and its established stakeholder relationships.

Key Company and NJV achievements during the year ended
30 June 2013 include:
• Record NJV production of 5.0 million wet metric tonnes (“wmt”)
shipped – BC Iron attributable tonnes 3.15 million wmt.
• The NJV has now shipped 9.4 million tonnes (“Mt”) over its
life and expects to surpass 10Mt during the first quarter of
2013/14.
• Completed the Fortescue transaction in December 2012
paying $190M to:
-- Increase BC Iron’s interest in the NJV from 50% to 75%;
-- Increase NJV access to infrastructure (rail & port)
capacity from 5 million tonnes per annum (“Mtpa”) to
6Mtpa;
-- Increasing BC Iron’s attributable iron ore exports 80%
from 2.5Mtpa to 4.5Mtpa; and
-- Prepaying for 3.5Mt of rail haulage and port services.
• Achieved the target of ramping up to 6.0Mtpa sustained
production rate of iron ore produced and exported in April
2013, ahead of schedule of June 2013.
• Released initial high level results in relation to the Company’s
assessment of the potential to beneficiate lower grade ore at
the NJV.
• Declared and paid maiden fully franked full year dividend
in relation to financial year ended 30 June 2012 of 15 cents
per share.
• Declared and paid a fully franked interim dividend in relation
to the 6 months ended 31 December 2012 of 5 cents
per share.
• Entered into a strategic alliance with Cleveland Mining
Limited to assess and acquire early stage iron ore projects
in Brazil and entered into a MoU over 3 greenfields
opportunities in the region.
• Following a strong 4th quarter, reduced the Company’s
debt facility by an additional USD30M ahead of the
agreed repayment schedule. This resulted in the Company
moving from a net debt position of $78M at 31 December
2012 to a net cash position of $35M at 30 June 2013.
• Completed the financial year with a strong cash balance of
$138.5M after allowing for the additional debt repayment.

Selected Company performance indicators are summarised below:
NJV

2013

2012

2011

Tonnes sold (M wmt) - NJV

5.00

3.55

0.25

Tonnes sold (M wmt) – BC Iron share

3.15

1.78

0.13

$112

$124

$161

Average CFR price realised (USD/dmt)
Reserve tonnes

37.2Mt

41.0Mt

34.7Mt

Resource tonnes

117.7Mt

108.7Mt

102.9Mt

Revenue

$325.3m

$204.5m

$19.1m

Underlying EBITDA

$115.3m

$70.6m

$1.4m

$71.4m

$50.6m

$1.0m

BC Iron

Underlying NPAT

28

b. Safety performance
During financial year 2013, three lost time injuries were recorded;
• A cleaner splashed cleaning solution into their right eye, resulting in
three days lost time;
• An operator sustained an injury to their ankle when stepping from
one level to another, resulting in three days lost time; and
• A maintenance worker fractured their foot when they lost balance
carrying a heavy object, resulting in two days lost time.
The lost time injury frequency rate at year end was 3.3.
The Company continues to work closely with its contractors to keep
safety a primary focus. The following initiatives were implemented in
financial year 2013 under the Company’s Safety Strategic Plan:
• A safety perception survey which provided a benchmark insight
into the safety culture at the NJV;
• Safety performance audits of our major contractors and their work
areas. Training and competency were the most significant areas of
improvement during the year;
• A “Healthy Lifestyle” programme and a “Learning from Incidents”
programme were launched;
• The NJV Site Safety Committee was established during the year.
The inaugural BC Iron Safety Forum held in May 2013 included
presentations from key-note speakers on fatigue management,
imminent harmonisation laws and the role of the State Coroner.
Significant focus since the forum has been on fatigue management in
the workplace.

c. Acquisition of additional 25% of Nullagine Joint Venture
The Company announced on 10 December 2012 that it had
entered into an agreement with Fortescue to acquire an additional
25% interest in the NJV. The agreement also included an increase
in the capacity available to the NJV on Fortescue rail and port
infrastructure from 5 to 6Mtpa for the life of the NJV, and a one
off prepayment of rail haulage and port charges for 3.5Mt of the
Company’s share of production from the NJV.
The transaction was completed on 18 December 2012 with total
consideration paid to Fortescue of $190M, plus a limited price
participation arrangement payable to Fortescue if certain iron ore
price conditions are met. The transaction was funded by internal
cash, a $47M underwritten institutional placement (15,579,150
shares at $3.04) and a USD130M loan facility.
On 10 December 2012 the Company announced a share
purchase plan (“SPP”) to raise $10M from eligible BC Iron
shareholders. The SPP closed oversubscribed on 16 January
2013, with the Company issuing 3.2 million shares at $3.04
on 24 January 2013.
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d. Profit after income tax from continuing operations

Expenses

Profit after income tax from continuing operations for the
Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2013
decreased by 3% to $48.8M (2012: $50.6M).

Total cost of sales increased by 64% in line with increased
sales tonnes, with average cost per tonne decreasing by
8% due to effective cost management and fixed costs being
spread over increased tonnes. Selling and marketing expenses
increased by 60% in line with increased sales tonnes.

This result was impacted by a number of one-off entries
such as costs associated with the Fortescue transaction and
the write off of exploration expenditure at the Bungaroo
tenements. The result was also impacted by non-cash items
such as the foreign exchange loss incurred on the Company’s
US dollar denominated debt due to a decrease in the AUD/
USD exchange rate, and the impairment of the Company’s
shareholdings in two ASX listed mining companies.
The Company’s underlying profit after income tax for the year
ended 30 June 2013 increased by 41% to $71.4M (2012:
$50.6M) confirming its strong operational performance during
financial year 2013 (“FY2013”).
The following table reconciles underlying profit after income
tax to statutory profit after income tax:
30 June 2013
$M
Underlying profit after income tax

71.4

Adjust for:
Writedown of exploration tenements

(1.2)

Unrealised foreign exchange losses

(11.4)

Fortescue transaction costs

(2.3)

Impairment of available-for-sale assets

(7.7)

Statutory profit after income tax

48.8

Revenue
Revenue from continuing operations increased this year by 59%.
This was mainly due to a 40% increase in sales tonnes, with 79%
attributable to increased production at the NJV, and 21% due to
the increase in ownership (6 months of FY2013) of the NJV from
50% to 75%. Realised iron ore price decreased by 10% due to
lower USD iron ore price, which was partially offset by lower
exchange rates.
350

AUD $M

A non-cash foreign exchange loss of $11.4M for the year
has been charged to administration expenses. This loss is
attributable to the exchange rate impact on the USD130M
loan facility drawn down in December 2012 to fund the
acquisition of the additional 25% of the NJV. The AUD/USD
exchange rate moved from 1.037 on 31 December 2012 to
0.9133 on 30 June 2013.
Exploration tenements at Bungaroo Creek were relinquished in
April 2013 resulting in a write-down of $1.2M.
An impairment of $7.7M has been recognised in relation to
available-for-sale assets which are fair valued each reporting
period. The impairment relates to the Company’s strategic
investments in two ASX listed mining entities.

Finance costs
Finance costs have increased by 106% due to interest expense
and facility fees for the USD130M loan facility drawn down
in December 2012 as part of the 25% NJV acquisition.

e. Statement of cash flows

Operating cash flows
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Cash flow from operating activities decreased by 2% to
$87.2M (2012: $88.9M). This amount was reduced by the
prepayment made to Fortescue for 3.5Mt of rail haulage and
port services as part of the 25% NJV acquisition, and the
Company’s first income tax payment.
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Excluding one-off foreign exchange losses, administration
expenses have increased by 54%. This increase was mainly due
to consulting and legal fees attributable to the acquisition of the
additional 25% of the NJV, and an increase in total employee
remuneration of 57% due to an increase in employee numbers.

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2013 increased by
49% to $138.5M (2012: $92.8M).

Sales Revenue
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0

The Company’s actual free on board (“FOB”) cash operating
costs for the year were approximately $38 per tonne, a
decrease of 28%. This is attributable to a focus on cost
management, fixed costs being spread over increased
tonnes, and the impact of the prepayment for rail haulage
and port services made as part of the 25% NJV acquisition
in December 2012.

Investing cash flows
2011

2012

2013

Cash outflow for investing activities increased by $125.2M
due to the 25% acquisition of the NJV.

Financing cash flows

Non-current liabilities

Cash flow from financing activities increased by $90.8M.
Proceeds from the issue of shares to fund the 25% acquisition of
the NJV were $56.2M, and net debt proceeds were $66.8M.
These were offset by two dividends paid to shareholders of
$21.7M.

Non-current liabilities increased by $56.2M to $70.4M
(2012: $14.2M). Loans and borrowings increased $55.7M
due to the non-current portion of the USD130M loan facility
drawn down in December 2012.

Effect of exchange rates

The Company’s gross debt position at 30 June 2013
was $103.3M (2012: $16.7M). In December 2012, the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary BC Iron Nullagine Pty
Ltd entered into a USD130M amortising term loan facility as
part of the funding of the 25% acquisition of the NJV.

The effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents at
30 June 2013 was an increase of $8.1M (2012: $1.6M).

f.

Statement of financial position

Current assets
Current assets increased by 74% to $202.6M (2012:
$116.4M). Cash and cash equivalents increased 49% to
$138.5M (2012: $92.8M) mainly due to increased sales
tonnes. Trade receivables increased by 175% to $52.9M
(2012: $19.2M) due primarily to the rail haulage and port
charges prepaid as part of the acquisition of the additional
25% of NJV.
Inventory increased by 159% to $11.3M (2012: $4.4M) due
to increased ownership of NJV and the operational decision to
build up stockpiles as part of the Company’s ongoing business
risk management.

Non-current assets
Non-current assets increased by 153% to $218.9M (2012:
$86.6M) due to the acquisition of the additional 25% of NJV.

Debt position

A scheduled principal payment of USD18M, along with a
voluntary principal payment of USD30M was made by the
Company on 28 June 2013. The balance of the loan at 30
June 2013 was USD82M, with twice yearly payments made
in June and December.
In December 2012 the Company paid its second instalment
of USD5M of USD25M project finance facility in place with
Henghou Industries (Hong Kong) Limited (“Henghou”), leaving
a balance of USD15M. The facility is due for repayment at
the amount of USD5M annually to Henghou over 5 years from
December 2011.
Following the Fortescue transaction, the Company reported a
net debt position of $78M at 31 December 2012. However,
following very strong operational performance during the
second half of FY2013, at 30 June 2013, cash and cash
equivalents exceeded debt by $35M.

Current liabilities
Current liabilities increased by 134% to $134.1M (2012:
$57.2M). Trade and other payables increased by 77% to
$75.3M (2012: $42.6M) due to increased ownership of
NJV, and increased production at NJV increasing payables
to primary contractors. Loans and borrowings increased by
$31.0M reflecting the current portion of the USD130M loan
facility drawn down in December 2012.

g. Dividends
The following dividends have been paid or declared by the Directors since the commencement of the financial year ended
30 June 2013:
2013
a.

out of the profits for the year ended 30 June 2012 on the fully paid ordinary shares,
fully-franked final dividend of 15 cents per share (2011: nil) paid on 2 October 2012.

b.

2012

$15.6M

Nil

(i) fully-franked interim dividend of 5 cents (2012: nil) per share paid on 22 March 2013

$6.1M

Nil

(ii) fully-franked final dividend of 30 cents (2012: 15 cents) per share to be paid on
24 September 2013

$37.0M

$15.6M

out of profits for the year ended 30 June 2013 and retained earnings on the fully paid
ordinary shares:
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h. Corporate
In March 2013, the Company was included in the S&P/ASX
300 Index for the first time.
On 10 May 2013 Michael Young resigned as Managing
Director and the Board was pleased to appoint Morgan Ball, the
current Finance and Executive Director, as Managing Director.

i.

Financial year 2014 outlook and guidance

The NJV is currently running at a throughput rate of
approximately 6Mtpa (BC Iron share 4.5Mtpa) with available
“sprint capacity” and is forecast to produce 5.8 to 6.2Mt of
direct ship ore during financial year 2014 (“FY2014”). The
NJV’s mine planning generally allows for the operation to run at
up to 6.5Mtpa for 9 months of the year, and at 4.5Mtpa for
3 months of the year during the January to March wet season
in the Pilbara. Guidance is presented as a range rather than a
single number due to the effect on production of unpredictable
rainfall in the Pilbara in the wet season, and unseasonal rains in
the dry season.
The Company has provided the following guidance to the
market in relation to FY2014:
• NJV production of 5.8 to 6.2M wmt, BC Iron share of 4.3
to 4.7M wmt.
• Cost of sales operating costs of between $46 and $50
per tonne.
• Actual cash operating costs of $40 to $44 per tonne due
to the effect of the remainder of the Fortescue prepayment.
• Capital expenditure of approximately $20M.
As the Company has achieved steady state operations at the
NJV, at this stage, it does not anticipate significant variance in
future years from the FY2014 guidance in relation to annual
production or cost of sales operating costs. The capital
expenditure amount is higher in FY2014 than the expected
ongoing sustaining capital amount, primarily as a result of
the two large grade control drilling campaigns required
to prepare for future mining activities at Bonnie East and
Warrigal 1 & 2.

j.

Other considerations

Iron ore marketing
The Company’s Bonnie Fines product is marketed by our
marketing agent, Fortescue. This relationship gives the
Company access to Fortescue’s large existing customer base.
Demand for Bonnie Fines remains very strong with several
enquiries received each month.
In addition, our Bonnie Fines product is now a well-accepted
and well recognised brand at a number of Chinese mills due
to its excellent sintering properties.

Sales markets
The Company currently sells its product to customers in China.
The Company receives and develops informed marketing
and industry information from our marketing agent, Fortescue,
our primary off-take partner, Henghou, as well as additional
contacts in China to maintain intelligence on both the steel
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industry and the Chinese economy and its outlook. We
consider that the outlook in relation to Chinese demand for iron
ore remains robust.

Iron ore price and AUD/USD exchange rate
Commodity prices during the year were impacted by global
economic factors, the easing of the Chinese economy and the
associated reduction in demand for iron ore. The table below
sets out the average headline iron ore price in recent years.
The Company expects that iron ore pricing will continue to
exhibit volatility on a short term basis.
2013
USD/dmt
Platts Average CFR 62%

127

2012
USD/dmt
151

2011
USD/dmt
163

Source: www.platts.com

The Company sells approximately 30% of its Bonnie Fines
to its off-take partner, Henghou, at an agreed discount to the
Platts CFR62 price (after Fe adjustment). The balance of its
production is sold at prices aligned to the Platts CFR62 Index
(after Fe adjustment) subject to market conditions.
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the AUD/USD
exchange rate as it sells Bonnie Fines in US dollars and then
converts the sales receipts to Australian dollars as appropriate.
The Company does have USD denominated debt and a
portion of USD expenses for which it holds USD, and this
provides a partial natural hedge.
The AUD/USD exchange rate is also a variable in determining
the Company’s revenue and profits. The following table
summarises the AUD/USD exchange rate over the last three
years:
2013
$

2012
$

2011
$

AUD/USD (average)

1.0269

1.0323

0.9899

AUD/USD (closing)

0.9133

1.0159

1.0595

Source: www.oanda.com

Debt and interest rates
Following the Fortescue transaction, the Company entered
into a USD130M 5 year debt facility with Commonwealth
Bank of Australia and Australia and New Zealand Banking
Group. This facility is subject to interest based on USD London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin.

The Pilbara Infrastructure (“TPI”)
The Company has entered into a comprehensive Rail and Port
Services Agreement with Fortescue’s infrastructure subsidiary,
The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd. There has been media
speculation in relation to a potential partial sale of TPI by
Fortescue as well as commentary on the potential third party
access regime. The Company’s existing agreement with
TPI provides appropriate security in relation to the service
provided if either of these events occur.

Project Inventory
This is the Project name for the Company’s assessment of
the potential to beneficiate the lower grade iron ore on the
NJV tenure. The Company plans to conduct a pilot plant trial
during the second half of calendar year 2013 in relation to
assessing whether the lower grade (50-54% Fe) material can
be economically upgraded to the Bonnie Fines specification
via a simple crush and screen process.

Business Development
The Company’s approach to new opportunities is centred on:
• Retaining and enhancing its ability to pay dividends; and
• Generating returns for shareholders through dividends and
share price appreciation.
BC Iron’s immediate focus is on the Pilbara region leveraging
off existing knowledge and relationships. The Company may
also consider opportunities in other iron ore jurisdictions on a
case by case basis.
In August 2012, the Company entered into a strategic
alliance with Cleveland Mining Limited to source, acquire and
develop new iron ore projects in Brazil. This alliance reflects
the Company’s prudent approach to entering into a new
jurisdiction with an entity that is experienced and operating in
the region with an in-country team.
In May 2013, the alliance announced that it had entered into
two Memoranda of Understanding (“MoU”) to earn the rights
to acquire up to 80% of three separate iron ore exploration
projects in the Brazilian states of Salvador da Bahia and
Minas Gerais. The MoU propose a staged earn-in process
linked to appropriate levels of exploration and development
assessment for each successive stage. As at the date of this
report, the long form documentation associated with the MoU
was being negotiated with the vendors.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN
STATE OF AFFAIRS
Other than the progress documented above, the state of
affairs of the Company was not affected by any other
significant changes during the year.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE
REPORTING DATE
Since the reporting date, the Directors have declared a
fully-franked dividend of 30 cents (2012: 15 cents) per share
payable on 24 September 2013. The amount of this dividend
will be $37.0M (2012: $15.6M). No provision has been made
for this dividend in the financial statements as the dividend was
not declared or determined by the Directors on or before the
end of the financial year.
Subsequent to year end, iron ore prices have improved and in
addition, the AUD/USD exchange rate has moved favourably
for the Company. However, both of these metrics remain
volatile. The iron ore price has experienced considerable
volatility in the past 3 years and as such, the duration of
any increase in price cannot easily be determined. Price
assumptions used in financial models of the Company to
determine various accounting and tax values may vary from
actual prices received, from time to time. The Company is
continuing to manage its cost base to maximise margins and
insulate the Company against price fluctuations.
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the
end of the financial year which significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in
financial periods subsequent to the financial year ended 30
June 2013.

Environmental regulation
The Company is subject to a number of environmental
obligations with respect to its mineral tenements, including: the
Mining Act 1978 (WA); Environmental Protection Act 1986
(WA); Rights in Water and Irrigation Act 1914 (WA); National
Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 (Cth); Explosives
and Dangerous Goods Regulations 1992 (WA); and the
Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act
1999 (Cth). The Company is in full compliance with each of
the aforementioned acts.
The Company is also subject to obligations under the Native
Title Act 1993 (Cth) and the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 (WA)
and has demonstrated full compliance throughout the year.
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SHARE OPTIONS AND PERFORMANCE RIGHTS
As at the date of this report, there were 875,000 options over ordinary shares and 331,342 performance rights on issue (875,000
options and 505,588 performance rights at the reporting date). Refer to the Remuneration Report for further details of options and
performance rights outstanding.
Date options granted

Expiry date

Exercise price

Number

12 April 2010

19 February 2015

$1.50

125,000

20 January 2012

31 December 2014

$3.86

100,000

20 January 2012

31 December 2014

$4.05

200,000

20 January 2012

31 December 2014

$4.32

200,000

22 June 2012

30 June 2015

$3.66

50,000

22 June 2012

30 June 2015

$3.83

100,000

22 June 2012

30 June 2015

$4.09

100,000

Total

875,000

Date performance rights granted

Expiry date

Fair value at grant date

Number

31 August 2012

1 September 2019

$1.42

262,136

20 November 2012

1 November 2019

$1.80

69,206

Total

331,342

No option or performance rights holder has any right to be provided with any other share issue of the Company by virtue of their
current option or performance rights holding. None of the existing options or performance rights are listed on the ASX.

Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company issued ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of options as follows
(there were no amounts unpaid on the shares issued):
Date options granted

Date options exercised

Number exercised

Number of
shares issued

Exercise price of option/
issue price of share

12 April 2010

8 March 2013

375,000

375,000

$1.50

9 July 2010

17 May 2013

50,000

50,000

$2.64

9 July 2010

17 May 2013

50,000

50,000

$2.39

9 July 2010

12 June 2013

75,000

75,000

$2.89

Total

550,000

Weighted average issue price

$1.87

Shares issued as a result of conversion of performance rights
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company issued ordinary shares as a result of the conversion of performance rights:
Date performance rights granted
1 December 2011
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Date performance rights converted
3 July 2013

Number converted Number of shares issued
174,246

174,246

AUDIT INDEPENDENCE AND
NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required
under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is attached
to the independent auditors report and forms part of the
Directors’ Report.

Non-audit services
The Board of Directors has considered the position and,
in accordance with the advice received from the Audit
Committee is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services
is compatible with the general standard of independence for
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the
auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for
the following reasons:
• All non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality
and objectivity of the auditor; and
• None of the services undermine the general principles
relating to auditor independence as set out in Code
of Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional
and Ethical Standards Board, including acting in a
management or a decision-making capacity for the
Company or acting as advocate for the Company.
For the year ended 30 June 2013, BDO provided
non-audit services to the Company in the form of tax
compliance in the value of $50,314 (2012: $67,143).
These services were provided by BDO Corporate Tax
(WA) Pty Ltd.
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AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT
The Remuneration Report sets out remuneration information for key management personnel which includes the non-executive directors,
the executive directors (comprising the Managing Director and Finance Director) and executive managers who have authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company. This report forms part of the Directors’ Report and
has been audited in accordance with section 308 (3c) of the Corporations Act 2001.
The report covers the following key management personnel:
Executive directors

Non-executive directors

M S Ball

Managing Director*

A W Kiernan

M S Ball

Finance Director

A M Haslam

M C Young

Managing Director*

M J McComas

Executive managers
B L Duncan

Chairman

T W Ransted
Chief Operations Officer

M C Young*
J A Gibson (resigned 19 December 2012)

*Mr Young resigned as Managing Director on 10 May 2013. He remains on the Board as a non-executive director. Mr Ball was appointed
Managing Director effective 10 May 2013.

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION POLICY
The objective of the Company’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate
for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic and operational objectives and the
creation of value for shareholders.
The Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria in line with appropriate corporate governance practices:
• Competitiveness and reasonableness;
• Acceptability to shareholders;
• Performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation;
• Transparency; and
• Prudent capital management.
The Company has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the reward
strategy for the organisation.

Role of Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Board. It is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on:
• Non-executive director fees;
• Remuneration levels of executive directors and other key management personnel;
• The executive remuneration framework and operation of any incentive plans; and
• Key performance indicators and performance hurdles for the executive team.
The objective is to ensure that remuneration policies and structures are fair and competitive, and aligned with the long-term interests of
the Company. In doing this, the Remuneration Committee seeks advice from independent remuneration consultants when necessary.
The Corporate Governance statement found in the annual report provides further information on the role of the Committee.

Use of remuneration consultants
The Board and Remuneration Committee reviews executive remuneration annually, including assessment of:
• Advice from independent external remuneration consultants;
• Individual and business performance measurement against both internal targets and appropriate external comparatives; and
• General remuneration advice from both internal and independent external sources.
McDonald & Company (Australasia) Pty Ltd provided industry focussed remuneration reports during the year and were paid
$4,750. These reports were used to ascertain market relevance for key management personnel and used to check appropriateness
and propose base salaries.
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Share trading policy
The trading of shares by all employees is subject to, and conditional upon, compliance with the Company’s share trading policy
which is available on the Company’s website, www.bciron.com.au.
The Company encourages directors and employees to adopt a long-term attitude to their investment in the Company’s securities.
Consequently, directors and employees may not engage in short-term or speculative trading of the Company’s securities. Designated
officers are prohibited from trading in financial products issued or created over, or in respect of the Company’s securities during a
non-trading period.

Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2012 Annual General Meeting
The Company received more than 90% of ‘yes’ votes on its remuneration report for the 2012 financial year. The Company did not
receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices.

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK
Under the executive remuneration policy, the remuneration of executives may comprise of the following:
• Fixed salary that is determined from a review of the market and reflects core performance requirements and expectations;
• Short term focussed performance bonus designed to reward actual achievement by the individual of performance objectives
and Company performance;
• Longer term focussed performance bonus designed to reward overall Company performance on a peer comparative basis that
may include deferred cash payments and/or participation in equity based schemes; and
• Statutory superannuation.

Short term incentives
The Board is responsible for assessing short term incentives (“STI”) for key management personnel if predefined targets are achieved.
Service agreements may establish STIs against key performance indicators (“KPIs”) which are assessed by the Board. These KPIs
will typically be aligned to specific operating and corporate objectives in relation to each financial year. The Managing Director
and key management personnel have a target STI opportunity of 30% of total fixed remuneration. All targets are reviewed annually.
These cash incentives are determined based on financial years and are payable in the following year after the relevant year’s
financial results have been finalised.
STI awards for the executive team during the 2013 financial year in relation to the 2012 financial year were based on operational
performance, safety, leadership and people, and strategic development. These targets were set by the Remuneration Committee and
align to the Company’s strategic and business objectives. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assessing whether the KPIs
are met. To assist in this assessment, the Committee receives detailed reports on performance from management. This is not verified by
any external consultants. The Committee has the discretion to adjust STIs downward in light of unexpected or unintended circumstances.

Long term incentives
Long-term incentives in the form of deferred cash and equities are provided to certain employees at the discretion of the Board.
Equities are provided via the Company’s Employee Share Options Incentive Scheme (Option plan) and/or the Company’s Employee
Performance Rights Plan (PR plan), which were approved by shareholders at the 2011 and 2010 annual general meetings
respectively. Both the Option and PR plans are designed to provide incentives for executives to deliver long-term shareholder returns.
Under the Option plan, participants may be granted options which only vest after a certain period of time has passed and
provided the employees are still employed by the Company at the end of the vesting period. The Company established the PR
plan to provide its executives with long term incentives which create a link between the delivery of value to shareholders, financial
performance, and rewarding and retaining executives.
A performance right is, in effect, a contractual right to be issued with a fully paid ordinary share in the Company on the satisfaction
of certain conditions. The performance rights issued will not vest (and the underlying shares will not be issued) unless certain
performance conditions have been satisfied. The grant of performance rights is designed to reward long term sustainable business
performance measured by relative total shareholder return (“TSR”) performance conditions over a two year period.
The performance conditions will be measured by comparing the Company’s TSR with that of a comparator group of companies
based on the Argonaut Junior Iron Ore Index over the period from the grant of the performance rights, to the end of the financial
year that is 2 years after that date (vesting date). The performance rights will vest depending on the Company’s percentile ranking
within the comparator group on the relevant vesting date as follows:

BC Iron Limited Annual Report 2013

37

BC Iron TSR rank

Performance rights vesting

Below 50th percentile

0%

At 50th percentile

50%

Between 51st and 100th percentile

Between 51% and 100% on a straight line basis

Company performance
The table below shows key financial measures of company performance over the past five years.
2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Revenue from continuing operations

$million

0.4

1.5

19.1

204.5

325.3

Net profit/(loss) after tax

$million

(1.3)

(1.4)

1.0

50.1

48.8

Basic earnings per share

Cents

(2.2)

(1.7)

1.1

51.1

42.9

Dividends paid per share*

Cents

-

-

-

-

20.0

A$

1.12

1.62

3.05

2.60

3.23

Share price (last trade day of financial year)

*2013 dividend payment consists of a full year dividend of 15 cps in relation to financial year 2012 paid in October 2012, and an interim
dividend of 5 cps in relation to the 6 months to 31 December 2012 paid in March 2013.

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION FOR FINANCIAL YEAR
The remuneration table below sets out the remuneration information for the executive directors and executive managers who are
considered to be key management personnel of the Company.
Long-term Post-employment
benefits
benefits

Short-term benefits
Cash Short-term
salary
incentive

Other
benefits (a)

Deferred
cash
benefit

Superannuation

Share-based
payments
Value of
performance
rights (b)

Termination
benefits

Percentage
performance
Total
related(c)

Executive directors
M S Ball (Managing Director appointed 10 May 2013, previously Finance Director)
2013

460,111

130,800

4,040

37,125

16,470

124,571

- 773,117

38%

2012

368,705

93,601

1,176

-

22,693

26,166

- 512,341

23%

M C Young (Managing Director resigned 10 May 2013)
2013

488,351

218,000

28,542

-

16,470

(35,681)

73,387 789,069

23%

2012

491,751 119,541

1,796

-

16,471

35,681

- 665,240

23%

Executive managers
B L Duncan (Chief Operations Officer)
2013

338,622

122,625

83,565

38,812

17,891

92,131

- 693,646

37%

2012

291,010

92,982

77,298

-

15,775

27,356

- 504,421

24%

a. Other benefits may include vehicles, fuel, travel and insurance.
b.	Share-based payments referred to above comprise performance rights over ordinary shares in the Company. The performance rights have
been valued using a Monte Carlo simulation.
c.	Percentage performance related is the sum of short-term incentives, deferred cash benefits and share based payments divided by total
remuneration, reflecting the actual percentage of remuneration at risk for the year.

Note that short-term incentives and deferred cash benefits are reported in the year in which they are actually paid, but relate to
performance in previous reporting periods.

Termination agreement – Mr Young
Mr Young resigned as Managing Director effective 10 May 2013. Agreed terms and conditions of his termination agreement are
as follows:
• Termination payment equal to two months base salary plus superannuation to be paid over two months, with final payment
made on 10 July 2013;
• Long term incentive attributable to financial year 2011, generally payable on 30 June 2013, to be paid on 10 July 2013; and
• All issued performance rights to lapse.
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Short-term incentive payments
For each short term incentive benefit, the percentage of the available bonus that was paid, or that vested, in the current financial
year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the service and performance criteria were not met, is set out in the following
table. No part of the bonus is payable in future years.
2013 (relates to FY2012 performance)
Maximum
possible
incentive
award

Percentage
of incentive
awarded

Amount
of award
in cash

2012 (relates to FY 2011 performance)
Maximum
possible
incentive
award

Percentage
of incentive
awarded

Amount
of award
in cash

Executive directors
M S Ball

$130,800

100%

130,800

131,832

71%

93,601

M C Young

$218,000

100%

218,000

170,773

70%

119,541

$122,625

100%

122,625

132,831

70%

92,982

Executive managers
B L Duncan

Long-term incentive payments
The long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) is subject to Company performance and consists of two components:
1. Performance rights which may covert to shares in BC Iron; and
2. Deferred cash.
Under the LTIP, an employee’s position determines the target percentage of the total fixed remuneration (salary plus statutory
superannuation). For executive directors and key management personnel, LTIP is made up of:
• Performance rights – 40% of total fixed remuneration; and
• Deferred cash – 30% of total fixed remuneration.
The deferred cash component is determined by measuring the Company’s actual sales volumes and earnings per share against
budget on an annual basis. The initial deferred cash component is determined based on the Company’s performance for the year
ending 30 June, with 50% of the calculated cash component payable on 30 June the following year, and the balance payable on
or about the following 30 June (i.e. 2 years after the relevant calculation date).
The performance criteria for financial year 2012 were partially met, and deferred cash was awarded as indicated in the following
table for payment on 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2014.

Performance
year

Maximum
possible
incentive
award

Percentage
of incentive
awarded

Amount of
award in
cash

Paid 30
June 2013

Payable 10
July 2013

Payable 30
June 2014

Executive directors
M S Ball

2011/2012

M C Young

$99,000

75%

$74,250

$37,125

-

$37,125

2011/2012 $135,000

75% $101,250

-

$50,625

-

2011/2012 $103,500

75%

$38,812

-

$38,813

Executive managers
B L Duncan

$77,625
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Performance rights
The Employee Performance Rights Plan (“PR Plan”) was approved at a shareholder’s annual general meeting on 19 November
2010. Under the terms of the PR Plan these long-term incentives are provided to certain employees at the discretion of the Board
and linked to long-term shareholder returns.
The terms and conditions of performance rights granted to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2013
affecting remuneration in the current or future reporting periods are set out in the following table:

Grant date

Date to vest

Expiry date

Value per
right at
grant date

Number
granted
during
the year

Value at
grant date

Number
vested
during
the year

Number
lapsed
during
FY 2013

Executive directors
M S Ball*

20/11/2012 30/06/2014 01/11/2019

$1.80

69,206 $124,571

-

-

M C Young

31/08/2012 30/06/2014 01/09/2019

$1.42

86,508 $122,841

-

86,508

$1.42

64,881

-

-

Executive managers
B L Duncan

31/08/2012 30/06/2014 01/09/2019

$92,131

*Granted at a later date as were subject to shareholder approval which was obtained at the Company’s AGM on 20 November 2012.

A Monte Carlo simulation was used to value the performance rights. The Monte Carlo simulates the returns of the Company in
relation to the peer group and arrives at a value based on the number of rights that are likely to vest. The risk free rate of the
performance rights on the date granted was 2.68%.
Performance rights issued immediately after 30 June 2011 in the 2011/12 financial year vested at 100% on 30 June 2013. The
performance conditions for these rights were measured by comparing the Company’s TSR with that of a comparator group of
companies based on the Argonaut Junior Iron Ore Index over the period from the grant of the performance rights to the end of the
financial year that is 2 years after that date (vesting date), being 30 June 2013. The companies included in the index may change
periodically as determined by Argonaut, but are determined when the performance rights are issued.
The companies included in the Argonaut Junior Iron Ore Index for the assessment period were:
• Atlas Iron Limited (ASX: AGO)

• Brockman Mining Limited (ASX: BCK)

• Flinders Mines Limited (ASX: FMS)

• Gindalbie Metals Limited (ASX: GBG)

• Grange Resources Limited (ASX: GRR)

• Iron Ore Holdings Limited (ASX: IOH)

• Mount Gibson Iron Limited (ASX: MGX)

• Pluton Resources Limited (ASX: PLU)

• Red Hill Iron Limited (ASX: RHI)
The table below summarises performance rights issued immediately after 30 June 2011, in financial year 2012 that vested on 30
June 2013.
For the relevant two year period, BC Iron was the best performed Company in the comparator group on a TSR basis, and
accordingly, the performance rights were converted to shares on 3 July 2013.

Grant date*

Date to vest

Value per
right at
grant date

Number
granted
during
the year

Value at
grant date

Number
vested
during the
year

Number
lapsed
during
FY2013

Executive directors
M S Ball

01/12/2011 30/06/2013

$1.57

45,361

$71,216

45,361

-

M C Young

01/12/2011 30/06/2013

$1.57

61,856

$97,113

-

61,856

01/12/2011 30/06/2013

$1.57

47,423

$74,454

47,423

-

Executive managers
B L Duncan

*Performance rights issued were determined based on the Company’s volume weighted average share price of June 2011 but were not granted
until after shareholder approval of the LTIP at the November 2011 AGM.

Options
There were no options issued to key management personnel during the period and no options were converted by key management
personnel. There are currently no options on issue to key management personnel.
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS
The remuneration and other terms of employment for executive directors and key management personnel are covered in formal
employment contracts.
Name
M S Ball (Managing Director)

Terms/Notice periods/Termination payment
Base salary inclusive of superannuation of $573,562 reviewed annually on 31 December
(or such other times as agreed), for a fixed term of 3 years.
Six months notice by Mr Ball. Twelve months by Company.
Termination payment to reflect appropriate notice except in case of summary dismissal.

B L Duncan (Chief Operations Officer) Base salary inclusive of superannuation $431,537 reviewed annually on 31 December (or
such other times as agreed).
One months notice by Mr Duncan. Three months by Company.
Termination payment to reflect appropriate notice except in case of summary dismissal.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the directors.
Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Chairman is not present at any discussions
relating to determination of his own remuneration.
Directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended for approval by
shareholders. The maximum currently stands at $700,000 in aggregate and was approved by shareholders at the annual general
meeting of 16 November 2011. This amount is separate from any specific tasks the directors or their related entities may take on for
the Company. The table below provides details of Board and committee fees for the 2013 and 2012 financial years and current
committee membership. The fee levels shown took effect from 1 January of the relevant year.
Main board

2013

2012

125,000

125,000

70,000

70,000

Chairman – M J McComas

5,000

5,000

Members – A M Haslam, A W Kiernan

5,000

5,000

Chairman – T W Ransted

5,000

5,000

Members – A M Haslam

5,000

5,000

Chairman – A W Kiernan

5,000

5,000

Members – A M Haslam, T W Ransted

5,000

5,000

Chairman – A W Kiernan
Members – all non-executive directors
Audit Committee

Risk Committee*

Remuneration Committee

* Note that since Mr Young became a non-executive director of the Company, he has been appointed as a member of the Risk Committee.
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The fees paid or payable to the non-executive directors in relation to the 2013 financial year are set out below. The Company has
no specific performance based remuneration component for non-executive director remuneration.
Short-term employment
benefits

Post-employment
benefits

Non-monetary
benefits

Salary and fees

Total

Superannuation

A W Kiernan (Chairman)
2013

135,000

-

-

135,000

122,500

-

-

122,500

2013

85,000

-

-

85,000

2012

58,865

-

-

58,865

75,000

-

-

75,000

38,466

-

-

38,466

2013

80,000

-

-

80,000

2012

83,695

-

-

83,695

2012
A M Haslam (Non-executive director)

(a)

M J McComas (Non-executive director) (b)
2013
2012
T W Ransted (Non-executive director)

(c)

J A Gibson (Non-executive director appointed 16 July 2012, resigned 19 December 2012)

(d)

2013

29,674

-

-

29,674

2012

-

-

-

-

2013

404,674

-

-

404,674

2012

303,526

-

-

303,526

TOTAL

a.
c.

A M Haslam’s fees are paid to Hasbar Pty Ltd.
T W Ransted’s fees are paid to Kyim Pty Ltd.

b.
d.

M J McComas’ fees are paid to McComas Capital Pty Ltd.
J A Gibson’s fees were paid to Regent Pacific Group Limited.

OTHER INFORMATION
Insurance of officers
During the financial period, the Company incurred premiums of $81,724 (2012: $80,847) to insure the directors, company secretaries
and officers of the Company. The liability insured is the indemnification of the Company against any legal liability to third parties
arising out of any directors or officers duties in their capacity as a director or officer other than indemnification not permitted by law.
No liability has arisen under this indemnity as at the date of this report.
The Company has entered into indemnity deeds with each director and officer. Under the deeds, the Company indemnifies each
director and officer to the maximum extent permitted by law against legal proceedings or claims made against or incurred by the
directors or officers in connection with being a director or officer of the Company, or breach by the Company of its obligations
under the deed.

Independent audit of Remuneration Report
The Remuneration Report has been audited by BDO. Please see page 85 of this report for BDO’s report on the Remuneration Report.
Signed in accordance with a resolution by the Directors.

A W Kiernan
Chairman
Perth, Western Australia
27 August 2013

42

M S Ball
Managing Director
Perth, Western Australia
27 August 2013

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
In the opinion of the Directors of BC Iron Limited:
a.	the financial statements comprising the statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of cash
flows, statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:
i.	giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the
financial year ended 30 June 2013; and
ii	
complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements.
b.	there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.
c.	the Company has included in the notes to the financial statements an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.
The Directors have been given the declarations by the Managing Director and General Manager-Finance required by section
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors and is signed on their behalf by:

M S Ball
Managing Director
Perth, Western Australia 27 August 2013.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
2013
$

Note

2012
$

Revenue from continuing operations
Sale of goods

2

323,970,581

202,903,170

Other revenue

2

1,335,054

1,592,239

325,305,635

204,495,409

Total revenue from continuing operations
Other income

3

3,030,398

3,005,482

Cost of sales

4

(189,504,652)

(115,525,733)

Selling and marketing

4

(36,806,064)

(22,981,601)

Administration expenses

5

(19,929,987)

(5,961,443)

Impairment of available-for-sale assets

(7,668,168)

-

Written down exploration leases

(1,186,956)

-

Profit before finance cost and income tax

73,240,206

63,032,114

(4,543,616)

(2,202,192)

68,696,590

60,829,922

(19,896,246)

(10,278,664)

48,800,344

50,551,258

-

(482,000)

48,800,344

50,069,258

Finance costs

6

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

7

Profit after income tax from continuing operations
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale assets
Profit for the year attributable to owners of BC Iron Limited
Basic earnings per share (cents per share)

23

42.92

51.09

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)

23

42.88

50.77

The above consolidated statement of profit and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2013
2013
$

Note

2012
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

138,487,833

92,816,843

Trade and other receivables

9

52,906,072

19,247,476

Inventory

10

11,253,271

4,351,652

Other financial assets

11

1,031

25,688

202,648,207

116,441,659

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment

12

73,857,239

49,638,822

Exploration and evaluation assets

13

9,918,420

6,571,769

Mine properties

14

130,153,128

26,821,943

Available-for-sale financial assets

15

1,657,547

3,200,000

7

3,348,740

401,208

Total non-current assets

218,935,074

86,633,742

Total assets

421,583,281

203,075,401

Deferred tax assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

17

75,291,714

42,551,201

Loans and borrowings

18

35,921,676

4,926,108

Provisions

19

2,041,755

883,034

20,825,312

8,845,288

134,080,457

57,205,631

Tax payable
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

17

157,000

1,175,000

Loans and borrowings

18

67,416,832

11,745,123

Provisions

19

2,835,801

1,305,837

70,409,633

14,225,960

204,490,090

71,431,591

217,093,191

131,643,810

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Shareholders’ equity
Issued capital

20

129,300,436

72,036,766

Reserves

21

13,424,732

12,304,995

Retained earnings

22

74,368,023

47,302,049

217,093,191

131,643,810

Total shareholders' equity

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
Contributed equity
$
Balance at 1 July 2011

Retained earnings
$

Reserves
$

Total
$

58,250,587

(3,249,209)

12,385,997

67,387,375

Profit for the year

-

50,551,258

-

50,551,258

Other comprehensive income

-

-

(482,000)

(482,000)

Total comprehensive income

-

50,551,258

(482,000)

50,069,258

-

-

400,998

400,998

13,786,179

-

-

13,786,179

-

-

-

-

Balance at 30 June 2012

72,036,766

47,302,049

12,304,995

131,643,810

Balance at 1 July 2012

72,036,766

47,302,049

12,304,995

131,643,810

Profit for the year

-

48,800,344

-

48,800,344

Other comprehensive income

-

-

482,000

482,000

Total comprehensive income

-

48,800,344

482,000

49,282,344

56,232,920

-

-

56,232,920

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders
Options issued
Options exercised
Dividends paid

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders
Shares issued net of transaction costs
Options issued
Options exercised
Dividends paid
Balance at 30 June 2013

-

-

-

-

1,030,750

-

637,737

1,668,487

-

(21,734,370)

-

(21,734,370)

129,300,436

74,368,023

13,424,732

217,093,191

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
2013
$

Note

2012
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers

322,114,520

192,737,189

(230,311,588)

(106,122,201)

Management fees received

2,946,210

1,431,108

Interest received

2,290,456

850,058

Income tax paid

(9,858,790)

-

87,180,808

88,896,154

(130,655,884)

(4,233,378)

Payments to suppliers and employees

Net cash flows from operating activities

29

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for mine property and development expenditure
Payments for plant and equipment

(10,150,655)

(15,438,296)

Payments for available-for-sale assets

(5,643,715)

(3,682,000)

Payments for exploration expenditure

(2,723,426)

(1,938,056)

25,000

1,366,237

(149,148,680)

(23,925,493)

56,200,175

13,562,844

Proceeds from borrowings

123,226,202

-

Repayment of borrowings

(56,378,494)

(4,892,846)

(1,809,414)

-

Refund of security deposit
Net cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares net of costs

Interest and finance costs paid
Dividends paid

(21,734,370)

-

Net cash flows from financing activities

99,504,099

8,669,998

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

37,536,227

73,640,659

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

92,816,843

17,536,827

8,134,763

1,639,357

138,487,833

92,816,843

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

8

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
NOTE 1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The financial statements for BC Iron Limited for the year ended
30 June 2013 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the Directors on 27 August 2013. BC Iron Limited
is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia
whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities
Exchange. BC Iron Limited and its subsidiaries together are
referred to in these financial statements as the ‘Company’ or
the ‘consolidated entity’.
The principal activity of BC Iron Limited is exploration and
production of iron ore.

a. Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of the financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the
financial years presented, unless otherwise stated.
These general purpose financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (‘AASB’), and the Corporations Act 2001.

(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of BC Iron Limited as
at 30 June 2013 and the results of all subsidiaries for the
year then ended.
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated
entity has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than
one-half of the voting rights. The effects of potential exercisable
voting rights are considered when assessing whether control
exists. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated on the date on which
control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of assets
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent
with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity.

Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The
financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the
acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership
interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction, where the difference between
the consideration transferred and the book value of the
share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised
directly in equity attributable to the parent.

New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and
Interpretations adopted
New standards and amendments to standards that are
mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning
1 July 2012 did not affect any of the amounts recognised
in the current period or any prior period, and are not likely
to affect future periods.

Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries
are shown separately in the statement of profit and other
comprehensive income, statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity of the consolidated entity.
Losses incurred by the consolidated entity are attributed
to the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a
deficit balance.

The Company has adopted AASB 2011-9 Amendments
to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income. This has resulted
in changes to the statement of comprehensive income,
now being referred to as the statement of profit and other
comprehensive income.

Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary,
it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities
and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with
any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity.
The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any investment
retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.

The Company has not elected to early adopt any other
new or amended Standards or Interpretations that are
issued but not yet effective.

b. Parent entity information
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these
financial statements present the results of the consolidated
entity only. Supplementary information about the parent
entity is disclosed in Note 32.
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c. Principles of consolidation

A list of controlled entities at year end is contained in note 36.
(ii) Joint ventures
The Company’s interests in joint controlled assets are
accounted for by recognising its proportionate share of assets,
liabilities and expenses. Profit and losses on transactions
establishing joint ventures and transactions with joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s ownership
interest until such time as they are realised by the joint ventures
on consumption or sale, unless they relate to an unrealised

Other revenue
Management fee income from the joint venture has been
recognised based on an agreed percentage of expensed
expenditure. It is recorded on an accrual basis.

loss that provides evidence of the impairment of an asset
transferred. The Company discontinues the use of proportional
consolidation from the date it ceases to have joint control.
Details of joint venture operations are set out in Note 31.

Other income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis
using the effective interest method.

d. Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner that is
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision
maker has been identified as the Board of the Company.
The Company operates in one operating segment being
predominantly in the area of mineral exploration, development
and production in the Pilbara region, Western Australia.

e. Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the gross
consideration received or receivable. The Company
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have
been met for each of the Company’s activities. The amount
of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until
all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Company bases its estimates on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other
assets is recognised when persuasive evidence, usually
in the form of an executed sales agreement, or an
arrangement exists, indicating there has been a transfer
of risks and rewards to the customer, no further work or
processing is required by the Company, the quantity and
quality of the goods has been determined with reasonable
accuracy, the price can be reasonably estimated, and
collectability is reasonably assured.
The Company recognises revenue when the risks and
rewards transfers to the buyer which is typically the bill of
lading date. The sales agreements allow for an adjustment
to the sales price based on a survey of the goods by the
customer, therefore the recognition of the sales revenue is
based on the most recently determined estimate of product
specifications.
Additionally, the sales price is determined on a provisional
basis at the date of sale and adjustments to the sales price
may subsequently occur depending on movements in
quoted market or contractual iron ore prices to the date of
final pricing. The date of final pricing is typically when a
notice of readiness is received when the vessel has arrived
at its final destination. Revenue on provisionally priced
sales is recognised based on the estimated fair value of
the total consideration receivable.
Traded freight
Revenue from freight services is recognised on the bill of
lading date of the customer.

f.

Income tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the financial year
is the tax payable on the current financial period’s taxable
income based on the national income tax rate, adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the statement of financial position date and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts
recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly
in equity.
Mineral Resources Rent Tax
On 19 March, 2012, the Australian Government passed
through the Senate, the Minerals Resource Rent Tax Act
2012, with application to certain profits arising from the
iron ore and coal extracted in Australia. In broad terms, the
tax is imposed on a project-by-project basis.
This tax applies to upstream mining operations only, and
the effective rate of Minerals Resource Rent Tax is 22.5%.
This tax is considered to be an “income tax” for the
purposes of AASB 112.
Certain transition measures are contained in the legislation
which can give rise to deductions in future years, for
Minerals Resource Rent Tax purposes.
Based on modelling and valuations performed on behalf
of the Company, a balance of $9,812,851 (2012:
$8,426,390) was recognised in deferred tax assets.
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NOTE 1. Continued
g. Goods and services tax (GST)

k. Fair value estimation

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of associated GST, except where the GST incurred
is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
the asset or as part of the expense item.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included with receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows
on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities, which is
recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority are
classified as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of
the amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the
taxation authority.

h. Impairment of assets
Assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date
or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).

i.

Cash and cash equivalents
For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and
cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call
with financial institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

j.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.
Trade receivables are due for settlement within 7 days
for provisional sales invoices and the final sale invoice
adjustment within 60 days. Other receivables are due for
settlement no more than 30 days from the date of invoice.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable
are written off. An allowance for impairment is established
when there is objective evidence that the Company will
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance
is recognised in profit and loss.
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The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for
disclosure purposes. The carrying value, less impairment
allowance, of trade receivables and payables are assumed
to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

l.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line
basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over
either its expected useful life of 2.5 to 5 years for furniture,
computers and equipment, or the life of the mine for plant
and equipment.

m. Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Expenditure on acquisition, exploration and evaluation
relating to an area of interest is carried forward where
rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and;
i.	the area has proven commercially recoverable reserves; or
ii.	exploration and evaluation activities are continuing in
an area of interest but have not yet reached a stage
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence
or otherwise of economically recoverable reserve.
At the end of each financial year the Directors assess
the carrying value of the exploration expenditure
carried forward in respect of each area of interest.
Capitalised exploration expenditure is considered for
impairment based upon areas of interest on an annual
basis, depending on the existence of impairment
indicators including;
• the period for which the Company has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not
expected to be renewed;
• substantive expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted or planned;
• exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the Company has decided to discontinue such activities
in the specific area; and
• sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.
Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest
that is abandoned are written off in the year in which the
decision to abandon is made.

n. Mine properties
Once a mining project has been established as commercially
viable and technically feasible, expenditure other than that
on land, buildings, plant and equipment is transferred and
capitalised as mine property. Mine property costs include
past capitalised exploration and evaluation costs, preproduction development costs, development excavation,
development studies and other subsurface expenditure
pertaining to that area of interest. Costs related to surface
plant and equipment and any associated land and buildings
are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
Mine property costs are accumulated in respect of each
separate area of interest. Costs associated with commissioning
new assets in the period before they are capable of operating
in the manner intended by management, are capitalised.
Mine property costs incurred after the commencement of
production are capitalised to the extent they are expected to
give rise to a future economic benefit.
When an area of interest is abandoned or the Directors
decide that it is not commercial or technically feasible, any
accumulated cost in respect of that area is written off in
the financial period the decision is made. Each area of
interest is reviewed at the end of each accounting period
and accumulated cost written off to the profit or loss to the
extent that they will not be recoverable in the future.
Amortisation of mine property costs is charged on a unit of
production basis over the life of economically recoverable
reserves once production commences.
Mine property assets are assessed for impairment if facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount. For the purposes of impairment testing,
mine property is allocated to cash-generating units to which
the development activity relates. The cash generating unit
shall not be larger than the area of interest.
Development stripping
Overburden and other mine waste materials are often
removed during the initial development of a mine in order
to access the mineral deposit. This activity is referred to as
development stripping.
The directly attributable costs (inclusive of an allocation of
relevant operational overhead expenditure) are capitalised
as development costs. Capitalisation of development
stripping costs ceases and amortisation of those capitalised
costs commences upon extraction of ore. Amortisation of
capitalised development stripping costs is determined on a
unit of production basis for each separate area of interest.
Capitalised development and production stripping costs
are classified as ‘Development Expenditure’. Development
stripping costs are considered in combination with other
assets of an operation for the purpose of undertaking
impairment assessments.

The Nullagine Iron Ore Joint Venture (“NJV”) area of
interest has minimal overburden to remove from these
mines - therefore production stripping costs for these
mines are not deferred but charged to the statement of
profit as they are incurred.

o. Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined primarily on the basis
of weighted average costs. Cost for raw materials and
stores is purchase price and for partly processed and
saleable products cost is derived on an absorption costing
basis. For this purpose the costs of production include:
• labour costs, materials and contractor expenses which are
directly attributable to the extraction and processing of ore;
• the amortisation of mine property expenditure and
depreciation of plant and equipment used in the
extraction and processing of ore; and
• production overheads, including attributable mining
overheads.
Stockpiles represent ore that has been extracted and
is available for further processing. If there is significant
uncertainty as to when the stockpiled ore will be processed,
it is expensed as incurred. Where the future processing of
this ore can be predicted with confidence (e.g. because it
exceeds the mine’s cut-off grade), it is valued at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. If the ore will not be processed
within 12 months of the statement of financial position date,
it is included in non-current assets. Quantities are assessed
primarily through surveys and volume conversions.

p. Provision for rehabilitation
The mining, extraction and processing activities of the
Company give rise to obligations for site rehabilitation.
Rehabilitation obligations can include facility decommissioning
and dismantling; removal or treatment of waste materials;
land rehabilitation; and site restoration. The extent of work
required and the associated costs are estimated based on
feasibility and engineering studies using current rehabilitation
standards and techniques. Provisions for the cost of each
rehabilitation programme are recognised at the time that
environmental disturbance occurs.
Rehabilitation provisions are initially measured at the
expected value of future cash flows required to rehabilitate
the relevant site, discounted to their present value. The
value of the provision is progressively increased over time
as the effect of discounting unwinds. When provisions for
rehabilitation are initially recognised, the corresponding
cost is capitalised as an asset, representing part of the cost
of acquiring the future economic benefits of the operation.
The capitalised cost of rehabilitation activities is recognised
in ‘Mine Property Expenditure’ as rehabilitation assets and
amortised accordingly.

Removal of waste material normally continues throughout
the life of a mine. This activity is referred to as production
stripping and commences upon extraction of ore.
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NOTE 1. Continued
Where rehabilitation is expected to be conducted
systematically over the life of the operation, rather
than at the time of closure, provision is made for the
present obligation or estimated outstanding continuous
rehabilitation work at each statement of financial
position date and the costs charged to the profit or loss
in line with remaining future cash flows.
At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is remeasured to account for any new disturbance, updated
cost estimates, changes to the estimated lives of operations,
new regulatory requirements and revisions to discount
rates. Changes to the rehabilitation liability are added
to or deducted from the related rehabilitation asset and
amortised accordingly.

q. Mineral tenements
The Company’s activities in the mining industry are subject
to regulations and approvals including mining heritage,
environmental regulation, the implications of the High
Court of Australia decision in what is known generally
as the “Mabo” case and any State or Federal legislation
regarding native and mining titles. Approvals, although
granted in most cases, are discretionary. The question of
native title has yet to be determined and could affect any
mining title area whether granted by the State or not.

r.

Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Company prior to the end
of the financial year which are unpaid. The amounts
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of
recognition. They are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently at amortised cost.

s.

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating (refer Note 24). Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

t.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the loans and borrowings using the effective
interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities, unless the
entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in
which case they are classified as non-current liabilities.
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u. Finance costs
Finance costs are recognised as an expense when incurred,
with the exception of interest charges attributable to major
projects with substantial development and construction
phases which are capitalised.
Finance costs include interest on loans and borrowings
(short and long term), loan facility establishment fees,
interest on finance leases and unwinding of discount on
provisions. Provisions and other payables are discounted
to their present value when the time value of money is
material. The carrying amount of a provision increases in
each period to reflect the passage of time. The increase is
recognised as a discount adjustment in finance costs.

v.

Foreign currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian
dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and
from the translation at financial year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit and loss.

w. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at 30 June 2013. The discount
rate used to determine the present value reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision
due to the passage of time is recognised as an expense.

x. Employee benefits
Salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and
annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of
the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in
respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for long term
incentives to be settled within 24 months of the reporting
date are recognised in non-current liabilities.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in current
and non-current liabilities, depending on the unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting date. The liability is measured
as the present value of expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided by employees up
to the reporting date using the projected unit method.
Consideration is given to expected future salary levels,
experience of employee departures and periods of
service. Expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the reporting date on national government
bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

y.

Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

z. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net
profit after income tax attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares on issue during the financial year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated using net profit
after tax attributable to equity holders of the Company
adjusted for the after-tax effect of dividends and interest
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares. The
weighted average number of shares used is adjusted
for the weighted average number of ordinary shares
that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

aa. Investments and other financial assets
Investments and other financial assets are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included
as part of the initial measurement, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. They are
subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair
value depending on their classification. Classification
is determined based on the purpose of the acquisition
and subsequent reclassification to other categories
is restricted. The fair values of quoted investments are
based on current bid prices. For unlisted investments, the
consolidated entity establishes fair value using valuation
techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis,
and option pricing models.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the consolidated
entity has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets, principally equity securities, which are
either designated as available-for-sale or not classified
as any other category. After initial recognition, fair value
movements are recognised in other comprehensive income
through the available-for-sale reserve in equity. Cumulative
gains or losses previously reported in the available-for-sale
reserve are recognised in profit or loss when assets are
derecognised or impaired.
Available-for-sale assets are considered impaired when
there has been a significant or prolonged decline in value
below initial cost. Subsequent increments in value are
recognised in other comprehensive income through the
available-for-sale reserve.

bb. Share-based payments
Share-based remuneration benefits are provided to
employees via an employee share option plan and/or an
employee performance rights plan. Information relating to
these plans is set out in Note 30.
The fair value of share based payments granted is
recognised as an employee benefit expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date and recognised over the period during which
the employees become unconditionally entitled to the
options or performance rights.
The fair value at grant date is independently determined
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes
into account the exercise price, the term of the option,
the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for
the term of the option.
A Monte Carlo simulation has been used to value the
performance rights. The Monte Carlo simulates the returns
of the Company in relation to a peer group and arrives
at a value based on the number of rights that are likely to
vest. The risk free rate of the performance rights on the date
granted was 2.68%.
The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect
market conditions, but excludes the impact of any nonmarket vesting conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are
included in the assumptions about the number of options
that are expected to become exercisable.
The employee benefit expense recognised each period
takes in to account the most recent estimate of the options
and performance rights. The impact of revision to original
estimates, if any, is recognised in the profit and loss with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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NOTE 1. Continued
cc. Acquisition of interests in joint operations
When the Company acquires an interest in a joint
operation, and the activity of the joint operation constitutes
a business as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations,
it applies to the extent of its interest, the relevant principles
of business combinations accounting in AASB 3. The
principles of accounting for business combinations include;
i.		Measuring identifiable assets and liabilities at fair value
other than those items for which exceptions are given;
ii.	
Recognising acquisition related costs as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and
the services received, with the exception of costs to
issue debt or equity securities which are recognised
in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Presentation;
iii.	
Recognising deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities that arise from the initial recognitions of
assets and liabilities, except for deferred tax liabilities
that arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; and
iv.	Recognising the excess of the consideration transferred
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed, if any, as goodwill.

dd. New and revised Accounting Standards and
Interpretations
The following Standards and Interpretations have been
issued or amended but are not yet effective and have
not been adopted by the Company as at the financial
reporting date. The potential effect of these Standards
is yet to be fully determined unless indicated. It is not
expected that the new or amended Standards will
significantly affect the Company’s accounting policies,
financial position or performance.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013 and expected to be initially applied by
the Company in the financial year ending 30 June 2014:
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
AASB 10 establishes a new control model that applies to
all entities, including special purpose entities. It replaces
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements dealing with the accounting for consolidated
financial statements and UIG-112 Consolidation – Special
Purpose Entities.
The new control model broadens the situations when an
entity is considered to be controlled by another entity and
includes new guidance for applying the model to specific
situations, including when acting as a manager may give
control, the impact of voting rights and when holding less
than a majority of voting rights may give control.
When this standard is first adopted, there will be no impact
on transactions and balances recognised in the financial
statements as the Company does not have any special
purpose entities.
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AASB 11 Joint Arrangements
AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures
and UIG-113 Jointly-controlled Entities – Non-monetary
Contributions by Ventures. AASB 11 uses the principle of
control in AASB 10 to define joint control, and therefore
the determination of whether joint control exists may
change. In addition it removes the option to account for
jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation.
Instead, accounting for a joint arrangement is dependent
on the nature of the rights and obligations arising from
the arrangement. Joint operations that give the venturers a
right to the underlying assets and obligations themselves is
accounted for by recognising the share of those assets and
obligations. Joint ventures that give the venturers a right to
the net assets are accounted for using the equity method.
When this standard is first adopted, there will be no impact
on transactions and balances recognised in the financial
statements. The NJV has been assessed as a joint operation.
AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
AASB 12 includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s
interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and structured entities. New disclosures have been
introduced about judgements made by management
to determine whether control exists, and to require
summarised information about joint arrangements,
associates, structured entities and subsidiaries with noncontrolling interests.
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
AASB 13 established a single source of guidance for
determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. AASB
13 does not change when an entity is required to use
fair value. It provides guidance on how to determine fair
value when fair value is required or permitted. Application
of this definition may result in different fair values being
determined for the relevant assets.
AASB 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for
all assets and liabilities carried at fair value. This includes
information about the assumptions made and the qualitative
impact of those assumptions on the fair value determined.
AASB 119 Employee Benefits
The revised standard changes the definition of short-term
employee benefits. The distinction between short-term
and other long-term employee benefits is now based on
whether the benefits are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine and AASB2011-12
Amendments to Australian Accounting standards
arising from Interpretation 20
This interpretation and its consequential amendments are
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013. The Interpretation clarifies when
production stripping costs should lead to the recognition
of an asset and how that asset should be initially and

subsequently measured. The Interpretation only deals
with waste removal costs that are incurred in surface
mining activities during the production phase of the mine.
The adoption of the Interpretation and the amendments
from 1 July 2013 will not have a material impact on the
consolidated entity.

ee. Critical accounting estimates & judgements
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures. Estimates and assumptions are
continuously evaluated and are based on management’s
experience. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require material
adjustment to the carrying value of assets or liabilities
affected in future periods.
Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions made
by management in the preparation of these financial
statements are outlined below.
Minerals Resource Rent Tax (MRRT) starting base valuation
The introduction of the MRRT required the Company to
determine a market value, at 1 May 2010, of its upstream
assets, including mining rights, to the point of delivery of ore
to the processing facility. This market value was determined
using a discounted cash flow methodology that requires
significant judgements and estimates including:
• forecast production profiles;
• forecast future iron ore prices;
• the calculation of an appropriate discount rate for
the project;
• expected royalty rates payable to the West Australian
State Government; and
• the reserve estimates for the project.
The Company has recognised an MRRT deferred tax asset
to the extent that it believes it will be utilised against future
MRRT profits.
Capitalisation of exploration and evaluation expenditure
The Company has capitalised significant exploration
and evaluation expenditure on the basis either that this
is expected to be recouped through future successful
development (or alternatively sale) of the areas of interest
concerned or on the basis that it is not yet possible to
assess whether it will be recouped. This better reflects the
operating position of the Company.
Mine properties expenditure
Development activities commence after commercial viability
and technical feasibility of the project is established.
Judgement is applied by management in determining when
a project is commercially viable and technically feasible.

Upon reclassification from exploration and evaluation
expenditure, the recoverable amount has been estimated
as the asset’s value in use, using the present value of future
cash flows based upon available reserves calculated by
the Company’s geologists in accordance with industry
guidelines. As a result of this assessment, no impairment
was deemed necessary.
Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation
expenditure
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and
evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of factors,
including whether the Company decides to exploit the related
lease itself, or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the
related exploration and evaluation asset through sale.
Factors that could impact the future recoverability include
the level of reserves and resources, future technological
changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates,
future legal changes (including changes to environmental
rehabilitation obligations) and changes to commodity prices.
As at 30 June 2013, the carrying value of exploration
expenditure is $9,918,420.
Share-based payment transactions
The cost of share-based payments to employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the option
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined using the Black-Scholes model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted.
The cost of share-based payments to financiers is measured
by reference to the difference between the nominal value
and net present value of the finance facility provided. The
net present value is determined based upon a market
comparable discount rate applicable to similar size
companies within the mining sector.
A Monte Carlo simulation has been used to value the
performance rights. The Monte Carlo simulates the returns
of the Company in relation to a peer group and arrives at a
value based on the number of rights that are likely to vest.
Recognition of deferred tax balances relating to tax losses
The Company has recognised deferred tax assets relating
to carried forward tax losses to the extent the Company
believe the utilisation of these losses against future taxable
profits is considered probable. Additionally, future changes
to environmental law and regulations, life of mine estimates
and discount rates could affect the carrying amount of this
provision.
Rehabilitation
The Company’s accounting policy for the recognition of
rehabilitation provisions requires significant estimates in
determining the estimated cost for the rehabilitation of
disturbed areas at a point in the future. These uncertainties
may result in future actual expenditure differing from the
amounts currently provided.
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NOTE 1. Continued
Reserve estimates
Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be
economically and legally extracted from the current mining
tenements. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological,
technical and economic factors, including quantities,
grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production
costs, transports costs, commodity demand, commodity
prices and exchange rates. Estimating the quantity and/
or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and depth
of ore bodies or fields to be determined by analysing
geological data such as drilling samples. This process may
require complex and difficult geological judgements and
calculations to interpret the data.
Because the economic assumptions used to estimate
reserves change from period to period, and because
additional geological data is generated during the course
of operations, estimates of reserves may change from
period to period. Changes in reported reserves may affect
the Company’s financial results and financial position in a
number of ways, including the following:
• Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes
in estimated future cash flows;
• Depreciation and amortisation charges in the Statement
of Profit and Other Comprehensive Income may change
where such charges are determined by the units of
production basis, or where the useful economic lives of
assets change; and
• The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change
due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of tax
benefits.
Units of production method
Where the useful life of an asset is directly linked to the
extraction of ore from the mine, the asset is depreciated
using the units of production method. In applying the units
of production method, depreciation is normally calculated
using the quantity of material extracted from the mine in the
period as a percentage of the total quantity of material to
be extracted in current and future periods based on proven
and probable reserves.
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Production start date
The Company assesses the stage of each mine
development project to determine when a mine moves
into the production stage. The criteria used to assess
the start date of a mine are determined based on the
unique nature of each mine development project. The
Company considers various relevant criteria to assess
when the mine is substantially complete, ready for its
intended use and moves into the production stage.
Some of the criteria include:
• The level of capital expenditure compared to construction
cost estimates;
• Completion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine
plant and equipment;
• Ability to process iron ore in saleable form; and
• Ability to sustain ongoing mining and processing of
iron ore.
When a mine development project moves into the
production stage, the capitalisation of certain mine
construction costs ceases and costs are either regarded as
inventory or expensed, except for costs relating to mining
asset additions or improvements, and mineable reserve
development, which are capitalised. It is also at this point
that depreciation/amortisation commences.
Functional Currency
The Company has defined its functional currency as
Australian Dollars. The Company operates in Australia
and incurs expenses in Australian dollars. In determining
this conclusion the Company has exercised judgement
when reviewing its existing transactions and applying
the requirements of AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates. The Company will monitor this
going forward.

NOTE 2 - REVENUE
2013
$
Sale of iron ore

2012
$

323,970,581

202,903,170

1,335,054

1,592,239

325,305,635

204,495,409

3,030,398

1,505,482

-

1,500,000

3,030,398

3,005,482

Mining and ore dressing

54,385,003

27,564,577

Haulage

79,114,550

54,540,237

Site administration

20,844,194

12,887,102

Depreciation of plant and equipment

10,103,104

4,238,779

Amortisation of mine properties

10,810,563

2,198,516

Royalties

20,797,942

10,995,024

Inventory movement

(6,550,704)

3,101,498

189,504,652

115,525,733

36,806,064

22,981,601

11,373,706

404,038

Consultant and legal fees

2,813,166

628,669

Employee benefits expense

1,454,849

924,101

Depreciation and amortisation

889,264

806,304

Share based payments

637,737

400,998

Stamp duty

431,516

-

Non-executive directors' fees

408,244

330,636

Occupancy related expenses

373,046

353,314

Other

1,548,459

2,113,383

Total

19,929,987

5,961,443

Interest expense on Henghou loan

1,363,383

1,749,833

Interest expense on loan facilities

1,822,164

-

Amortisation of facility fees

594,206

-

Other

763,863

452,359

4,543,616

2,202,192

Management fees
Total

NOTE 3 - OTHER INCOME
Interest revenue
Reimbursement of costs by NJV
Total

NOTE 4 - OPERATING EXPENSES

Total
Shipping, marketing and demurrage

NOTE 5 - ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Foreign exchange loss/(gain)

NOTE 6 - FINANCE COSTS

Total

In November 2009, the NJV secured USD50 million (BC Iron share - USD25 million) in project finance (interest free) from
Henghou Industries (Hong Kong) Limited. As part of this facility the Company issued 8 million options to Henghou. This
amount was offset against the liability on initial recognition and the liability is discounted using the effective interest rate method.
The non-cash effective interest recognised during the year was $1,363,383 (2012: $1,749,833). Interest expense on loan
facilities and amortisation of facility fees relate to USD130 million debt facility. Refer to Note 18 for further information.
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NOTE 7 - INCOME TAXES
2013
$

2012
$

Current tax expense
Current period

21,501,340

8,845,288

834,997

270,085

22,336,337

9,115,373

(434,998)

1,163,291

(1,386,461)

-

(618,632)

-

(2,440,091)

1,163,291

19,896,246

10,278,664

Profit for the period

68,696,590

60,829,922

Income tax using the Company's domestic tax rate of 30 per cent (2012: 30 per cent)

20,608,977

18,248,977

213,067

185,992

(1,386,461)

(8,426,390)

Adjustments for prior periods

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Mining resources rent tax
Adjustments for prior periods
Income tax expense reported in statement of profit and other comprehensive income
Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Non deductible expenses
Mining resources rent tax temporary difference
Recognised directly in equity

244,297

-

(Under)/over provided in prior periods

216,366

270,085

19,896,246

10,278,664

Income tax expense reported in statement of profit and other comprehensive income

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Assets
2013

Liabilities
2012

2013

Net
2012

2013

2012

Accrued expenses

-

41,303

-

-

-

41,303

Inventory

-

-

(62,849)

-

(62,849)

-

-

-

2,300,450

-

Available-for-sale financial assets

2,300,450

-

Capitalised exploration expenditure

-

-

(2,975,526) (1,971,531)

(2,975,526) (1,971,531)

Mine property, plant and
development expenditure

-

-

(12,130,814) (6,008,396)

(12,130,814) (6,008,396)

1,463,267

462,271

-

-

1,463,267

462,271

640,026

247,891

-

-

640,026

247,891

Mining resources rent tax

9,812,851 8,426,390

-

-

9,812,851

8,426,390

Other items

4,462,682

261,220

(161,347) (1,057,940)

4,301,335

(796,720)

18,679,276 9,439,075

(15,330,536) (9,037,867)

3,348,740

401,208

Provisions
Share issue costs in equity

Tax assets/(liabilities)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset as they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and there
is a legally recognised right to offset.
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Movement in deferred tax assets
Availablefor-sale
assets

Accrued
expenses
At 1 July 2012

Share issue
costs

Provisions

MRRT

Other

Total

41,303

-

462,271

247,891

8,426,390

261,220

9,439,075

(41,303)

2,300,450

1,000,996

-

1,386,461

4,201,462

8,848,066

- to other

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- directly to equity

-

-

-

392,135

-

-

392,135

At 30 June 2013

-

2,300,450

1,463,267

640,026

9,812,851

(Charged)/credited
- to profit or loss

4,462,682 18,679,276

Movement in deferred tax liabilities

Inventory
At 1 July 2012

Mine
property,
plant &
equipment

Exploration
and
evaluation

Other

Total

- (1,971,531) (6,008,396) (1,057,940) (9,037,867)

(Charged)/credited
- to profit or loss

(62,849) (1,003,995) (6,122,418)

896,593 (6,292,669)

- to other

-

-

-

-

-

- directly to equity

-

-

-

-

-

At 30 June 2013

(62,849) (2,975,526) (12,130,814)

(161,347) (15,330,536)

Mineral resources rent tax (“MRRT”)
The Company has an unrecognised MRRT tax benefit of $113.7 million arising in Australia that is available for offset against
future taxable profits. The Company is of the view that the availability of the benefit in its entirety is not probable as it is subject
to significant uncertainty. A deferred tax asset of $9.8 million has been recognised at 30 June 2013.
Tax consolidation legislation
BC Iron Limited and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have elected to enter into the tax consolidation legislation
from 20 May 2009. On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the tax consolidated group entered into a
tax sharing agreement which, in the opinion of the Directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly owned entities in
the case of a default by the head entity, BC Iron Limited.
The entities entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly owned entities fully compensate BC Iron Limited for any
current tax payable assumed, and are compensated by BC Iron Limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets
relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to BC Iron Limited under the tax consolidation legislation.
The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly owned entities’ financial statements.
The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head
entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require payment
of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. The funding amounts are recognised as current
intercompany receivables or payables. No amounts have been recognised for the current year.

NOTE 8 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2013
$
Cash at bank and on hand
Cash on deposit
Total

2012
$

116,581,991

72,816,843

21,905,842

20,000,000

138,487,833

92,816,843

Cash on deposit relates to a term deposit held with a financial institution for one month due to mature on 28 July 2013.
Further information can be found at Note 28.
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NOTE 9 - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2013
$
Trade receivables and prepayments
Interest receivable
Receivables due from joint arrangement
Other receivables
Total

2012
$

50,249,891

15,986,721

201,099

68,497

362,559

1,096,339

2,092,523

2,095,919

52,906,072

19,247,476

Due to the short-term nature of current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.
As at 30 June 2013 no receivables were past due or impaired (2012: Nil).
Other receivables includes $2.0M for GST receivable (2012: $2.1M).
Refer to Note 28 for information on the risk management policy of the Company.

NOTE 10 - INVENTORY
Raw materials

3,471,960

624,780

Iron ore stockpiles

7,781,311

3,726,872

11,253,271

4,351,652

1,031

25,688

91,516,092

53,695,719

Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value

NOTE 11 - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Security deposits

NOTE 12 - PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and equipment
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

(18,314,956)

(4,552,911)

Net carrying amount

73,201,136

49,142,808

Net carrying amount at beginning of year

49,142,808

36,924,296

Additions

34,514,152

16,356,698

(525,425)

-

Reclassified to profit and loss
Depreciation expense

(9,930,399)

(4,138,186)

Net carrying amount at end of year

73,201,136

49,142,808

1,722,571

1,090,344

(1,066,468)

(594,330)

Net carrying amount

656,103

496,014

Net carrying amount at beginning of year

496,014

485,282

Additions

336,635

288,122

Disposals

(3,841)

-

(172,705)

(277,390)

656,103

496,014

Furniture, equipment and IT equipment
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Depreciation expense
Net carrying amount at end of year
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NOTE 13 - EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
2013
$

2012
$

Opening balance

6,571,769

4,349,457

Additions

4,533,607

2,222,312

Unsuccessful exploration expenditure derecognised
Net carrying amount

(1,186,956)

-

9,918,420

6,571,769

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is recorded at historical cost on an area of interest basis. Recovery of these costs is
dependent upon the commercial success of future exploration and development or realisation by disposal of the interests therein.
There may exist on the Company’s exploration properties, areas subject to claim under native title or containing sacred sites or
sites of significance to Aboriginal people. As a result, exploration properties or areas within the tenements may be subject to
exploration and mining restrictions.
The unsuccessful exploration expenditure derecognised relates to five exploration tenements at Bungaroo Creek. Following first
pass drilling and analysis, the iron potential was assessed to be low in grade and tonnage with no further plans to explore the
remaining areas. Accordingly the tenements were relinquished in April 2013 and the exploration costs incurred derecognised.

NOTE 14 - MINE PROPERTIES
Opening balance

26,821,943

24,974,772

Additions

114,141,748

4,745,630

Amortisation

(10,810,563)

(2,898,459)

Net carrying amount

130,153,128

26,821,943

All expenditure for mine development is included in mine properties. Mine properties are recorded at historical cost.
The recoverable amount has been estimated as the asset’s value in use, using the present value of future cash flows based upon
available reserves calculated by the Company’s geologists in accordance with industry guidelines. As a result of this assessment,
no impairment was deemed necessary.
On 18 December 2012 the Company acquired an additional 25% interest in the NJV. The consideration gave rise to a surplus
over the net assets acquired. As part of the fair value allocation an amount has been assigned to mine properties and is included
in additions. Refer to Note 31 for further information.

NOTE 15 - AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE ASSETS
Opening balance

3,200,000

-

Equity securities acquired

5,643,715

3,682,000

Revaluation

482,000

(482,000)

Impairment

(7,668,168)

-

1,657,547

3,200,000

Closing balance

Available-for-sale assets relates to two investments in listed securities on the ASX. Both investments have been assessed as
impaired as there has been a significant and prolonged decline in value below initial cost.

NOTE 16 - OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Opening balance

-

1,146,500

Derecognition

-

(1,146,500)

Closing balance

-

-

During financial year ended 30 June 2012, the Group secured non-cash backed bonds in relation to rehabilitation bonds.
The outstanding non-cash backed bonds facility at 30 June 2013 was $2,441,190 (2012: $1,309,000).
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NOTE 17 - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2013
$

2012
$

Current
Trade payables and accruals

75,291,714

42,551,201

Total current

75,291,714

42,551,201

Trade payables and accruals

157,000

1,175,000

Total non-current

157,000

1,175,000

75,448,714

43,726,201

Non-current

Total trade and other payables

Current trade payables are unsecured and payable on supplier credit terms, usually payable within 30 days of recognition.
Non-current trade payables relate to an amount of consideration payable to key contractors. These are non-interest bearing and
repayable within 24 months. The Company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid
within the credit timeframe (refer to Note 28).
Due to the short-term nature of current and non-current payables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

NOTE 18 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Current
Secured - loan facility (a)
Unsecured - Henghou facility

(b)

Total current

30,447,023

-

5,474,653

4,926,108

35,921,676

4,926,108

Non-current
Secured - loan facility (a)
Unsecured - Henghou facility (b)
Total non-current
Total loans and borrowings

58,339,881

-

9,076,951

11,745,123

67,416,832

11,745,123

103,338,508

16,671,231

a. Secured loan facility
On 18 December 2012, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd (“BCIN”) entered into a USD130
million amortising term loan facility as part of the funding of the 25% acquisition of the NJV. The loan is secured and the carrying
value equals the fair value. The term of the loan is 5 years with a floating interest rate based on USD London Interbank Offered
Rate plus a margin.
BCIN has granted a security interest, pursuant to a General Security Deed, in favour of CBA Corporate Services (NSW) Pty
Limited (“Security Trustee”) over all BCIN’s assets and undertaking (including certain mineral tenements) to secure the due and punctual
payment of all money which BCIN or the Company is liable to pay in connection with the Syndicated Facility agreement
between BCIN, the Company, Commonwealth Bank of Australia (as agent), the Security Trustee and the lenders (“Secured Money”).
The Company has granted a security interest, pursuant to a Specific Security Deed, in favour of the Security Trustee in the
Company's shares in BCIN, amounts owing to the Company by BCIN and certain mining tenements to secure the Secured
Money. The Company has also granted a featherweight security interest in favour of the Security Trustee over all its other present
and after acquired assets and undertaking (other than those shares, amounts owing and mineral tenements). The Company is
not restricted from dealing with the featherweight collateral, unless a voluntary administrator has been appointed.
The structure of the debt facility allows the Board to consider continued payment of dividends by the Company except in very
limited circumstances.
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b. Unsecured Henghou facility
The NJV secured USD50 million (interest free) in project finance with Henghou Industries (Hong Kong) Limited. Henghou
made a payment of USD15 million on 17 December 2009 (being USD7.5 million to the Company), a payment of USD15
million on 3 February 2010 (being USD7.5 million to the Company) and a payment of USD20 million on 2 July 2010 (being
USD10 million to the Company).
The Company will repay its share of the facility at the amount of USD5 million annually to Henghou over 5 years from December
2011. The second repayment was made during the 2013 financial year. As part of this facility the Company issued 8 million options
to Henghou as non-cash consideration. These options were exercised in the 2012 financial year.
The total borrowings above do not agree to the total outstanding loan owing by the Company of USD15 million due to foreign
exchange differences and discounting of the loan (as it is interest free). These borrowings are unsecured and the carrying value
equals fair value.

NOTE 19 - PROVISIONS
2013
$

2012
$

Current
Employee benefits

2,041,755

883,034

Total current

2,041,755

883,034

2,669,272

1,305,837

166,529

-

Total non-current

2,835,801

1,305,837

Total provisions

4,877,556

2,188,871

Carrying amount at beginning of year

1,305,837

920,594

Capitalised to development - additional provision recognised

1,363,435

385,243

Carrying amount at end of year

2,669,272

1,305,837

Non-current
Rehabilitation
Employee benefits

Movement in provisions
Rehabilitation

Employee benefits
The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave, vested long service leave entitlements and incentives accrued by
employees.
Rehabilitation
The Company makes provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine sites on a discounted basis on the development of
mines. This provision represents the present value of rehabilitation costs relating to the mine sites, which are expected to be
incurred through to the end of the life of the mine. Assumptions, based on the current economic environment, have been made
in determining current rehabilitation provisions, which management believes are reasonable bases upon which to estimate the
future liability. These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date to take into account any material changes to the assumptions.
However, actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning works
required which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation is likely to depend on
when the mines cease to produce at economically viable rates. This, in turn, will depend upon future iron ore prices, which are
inherently uncertain.
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NOTE 20 - CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
2013
Number

2012
$

Number

$

Share capital
Ordinary shares - fully paid

123,279,384

129,300,436

103,861,000

72,036,766

94,381,000

58,250,587

Exercise of options 12 August 2011

500,000

962,500

Exercise of options 7 October 2011

200,000

320,000

Exercise of options 21 October 2011

150,000

207,000

Exercise of options 4 November 2011

80,000

110,500

Exercise of options 25 January 2012

400,000

650,000

Exercise of options 27 January 2012

4,444,433

5,999,984

Exercise of options 3 February 2012

3,555,567

5,100,014

150,000

210,000

103,861,000

72,036,766

Movement in share capital
At 1 July 2011

Exercise of options 29 February 2012
Tax effect of issue costs

226,181

Balance at 30 June 2012
At 1 July 2012
Capital raising 18 December 2012 @ $3.04

103,861,000

72,036,766

15,579,150

47,360,616

Issue costs

(2,131,932)

Tax effect of issue costs
Capital raising 24 January 2013 @ $3.04

1,004,965
3,289,234

9,999,271

Exercise of options 8 March 2013 @ $1.50

375,000

562,500

Exercise of options 17 May 2013 @ $2.39

50,000

119,500

Exercise of options 17 May 2013 @ $2.64

50,000

132,000

Exercise of options 12 June 2013 @ $2.89

75,000

216,750

123,279,384

129,300,436

Balance at 30 June 2013

a. Terms and conditions of ordinary shares
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at shareholders’ meetings. In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other
shareholders and creditors are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidations.

b. Capital risk management
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue
to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Company defines capital as
equity and net debt. Net debt is defined as borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and equity as the sum of share capital,
reserves and accumulated retained earnings.
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2013
$

2012
$

Net debt to equity
Total interest bearing debt

103,338,508

16,671,231

Less cash and cash equivalents

138,487,833

92,816,843

Excess of cash over debt
Equity

35,149,325

76,145,612

217,093,191

131,643,810

Net debt as percentage of equity - not applicable as cash and cash equivalent exceeds debt.
Cash interest cover
Profit before income tax
Finance costs

68,696,590

60,829,922

4,543,616

2,202,192

Depreciation and amortisation

21,802,931

7,243,599

EBITDA

95,043,137

70,275,713

1,809,414

-

53

NA

10,293,793

10,484,712

637,737

400,998

(709,262)

(591,917)

10,222,268

10,293,793

(482,000)

-

482,000

(482,000)

-

(482,000)

2,493,202

1,901,285

709,262

591,917

3,202,464

2,493,202

13,424,732

12,304,995

Net cash interest paid
Cash interest cover

NOTE 21 - RESERVES
Share based payments reserve
Balance as at 1 July
Share based payments expense
Options transferred to options exercised reserve
Balance as at 30 June
Available for sale reserve
Balance as at 1 July
Gains and losses on financial instruments recognised in equity
Balance as at 30 June
Options exercised reserve
Balance as at 1 July
Options transferred from share based payments reserve
Balance as at 30 June
Total reserves

Nature and purpose of reserves
The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options (not exercised), performance rights and equitysettled benefits issued in settlement of share issue costs.
The options exercised reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options exercised.
Changes in the fair value and exchange differences arising on translation of investments such as equities classified as availablefor-sale financial assets, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate available-for-sale reserve
within equity. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss when the associated assets are sold or impaired.
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NOTE 22 - RETAINED EARNINGS
2013
$

2012
$

Balance as at 1 July

47,302,049

(3,249,209)

Net profit

48,800,344

50,551,258

Dividends paid
Balance as at 30 June

(21,734,370)

-

74,368,023

47,302,049

48,800,344

50,551,258

NOTE 23 - EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share from continuing operations
Profit after income tax from continuing operations
Interest on convertible options
Profit after income tax used in calculating diluted earnings per share

7,500

24,364

48,807,844

50,575,622

Number
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share

Number

113,689,123

98,935,964

125,000

675,000

113,814,123

99,610,964

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:
Vested share options outstanding at year end
Weighted average number of shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share

Cents

Cents

Basic earnings per share

42.92

51.09

Diluted earnings per share

42.88

50.77

48,800,344

50,069,258

7,500

24,364

48,807,844

50,093,622

Earnings per share for profit attributable to owners of BC Iron Limited
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company
Interest on convertible options
Profit after income tax used in calculating diluted earnings per share

Number
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share

113,689,123

Number
98,935,964

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:
Vested share options outstanding at year end
Weighted average number of shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share
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125,000

675,000

113,814,123

99,610,964

Cents

Cents

Basic earnings per share

42.92

50.61

Diluted earnings per share

42.88

50.29

NOTE 24 - COMMITMENTS
2013
$

2012
$

Mining tenement leases
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements the Company is required to perform minimum exploration
work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements specified by the WA State Government and pay tenement lease rents.
The estimated exploration expenditure commitment for the ensuing year, but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements:
Within one year

1,008,518

766,661

Greater than one year but not more than five years

5,568,624

4,209,144

-

-

6,577,142

4,975,805

More than five years

Operating leases - buildings
The Company has non-cancellable operating leases for offices in West Perth, Western Australia, expiring 31 August 2016 and
a storage unit in Maddington, Western Australia, expiring 7 March 2015.
Within one year

382,542

363,044

Greater than one year but not more than five years

868,677

1,204,217

-

-

1,251,219

1,567,261

Within one year

94,087

56,701

Greater than one year but not more than five years

91,992

86,404

More than five years
Operating leases - vehicles
The Company has non-cancellable operating leases for vehicles expiring 20 August 2015.

More than five years

-

-

186,079

143,105

Within one year

-

3,215,500

Greater than one year but not more than five years

-

1,175,000

More than five years

-

-

-

4,390,500

Capital commitments

NOTE 25 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS
The Company is bound to the Minister of Mines in the State of Western Australia to the sum of $177,099 (2012: $122,336)
security in order to comply with the conditions of the leases for the mining tenements.
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NOTE 26 - SEGMENT INFORMATION
Management has determined that the Company has one reportable segment, being mineral exploration, development and
production in Western Australia. As the Company is focused on mineral exploration, development and production, the Board
monitors the Company based on actual versus budgeted expenditure incurred by area of interest. This internal reporting
framework is the most relevant to assist the Board with making decisions regarding the Company and its ongoing activities, while
also taking into consideration the results of exploration and development work that has been performed to date.
2013
$

2012
$

Total segment revenue

325,305,635

204,495,409

EBITDA

111,701,636

68,815,300

Total segment assets

419,925,734

199,875,401

80,326,270

45,915,072

111,701,636

68,815,300

3,030,398

1,505,482

-

-

(46,035,444)

(9,490,860)

Profit before income tax

68,696,590

60,829,922

Segment liabilities

80,326,270

45,915,072

Total segment liabilities
Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss
EBITDA
Interest revenue
Other income
Unallocated: Interest, depreciation and amortisation

Provision for income tax

20,825,312

8,845,288

Loans

103,338,508

16,671,231

Total liabilities per statement of financial position

204,490,090

71,431,591

Segment assets

419,925,734

199,875,401

1,657,547

3,200,000

421,583,281

203,075,401

Available-for-sale financial assets
Total assets per statement of financial position
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NOTE 27 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a. Parent entity
BC Iron Limited is the parent entity.

b. Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 36.

c. Joint ventures
Interests in joint ventures are set out in Note 31.

d. Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 37 and the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report.

e. Transactions with related parties
2013
$
Management fee income from joint arrangement

2012
$

1,335,054

1,592,239

756,832

707,740

13,117,251

9,781,312

548,167

1,096,339

138,487,833

92,816,843

1,031

25,688

1,657,547

3,200,000

52,906,072

19,247,476

193,052,483

115,290,007

75,448,714

43,726,201

103,338,508

16,671,231

178,787,222

60,397,432

f. Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services
Joint arrangement
Current receivables
Current payables

g. Loans to/from related parties
Loans to joint arrangement

NOTE 28 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company holds the following financial instruments:
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits
Available-for-sale assets
Trade and other receivables

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings

Market (including foreign exchange, commodity price and interest rate risk), credit and liquidity risks arise in the normal course
of the Company’s business. Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risk rests with senior management
under directives approved by the Board.
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NOTE 28 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Continued
a. Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commitments, assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency in which they are measured. The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on cash and equivalents, trade receivables and
loans and borrowings. The Company’s policy is, where possible, to allow group entities to settle foreign liabilities with the cash generated
from their own operations in that currency. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk at reporting date was as follows:
2013
$
Exchange rate at reporting date

2012
$

0.9133

1.015

AUD

50,407,797

12,621,822

USD

46,037,441

12,811,149

AUD

13,946,081

14,548,092

USD

12,736,956

14,766,313

AUD

106,208,256

19,704,433

USD

97,000,000

20,000,000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings

The following table summarises the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the USD rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Company’s profit before tax due to changes in the carrying value of financial assets and liabilities at reporting
date. The impact on equity is the same as the impact on profit before tax.

Increase USD 0.9133 (2012: 1.015) by 5% to 0.9590 (2012: 1.0657)
Decrease USD 0.9133 (2012: 1.015) by 5% to 0.8698 (2012: 0.9666)

Effect on profit
before tax

Effect on profit
before tax

2013
$

2012
$

1,994,520

(355,167)

(2,093,200)

373,813

(ii) Commodity price risk
The Company’s revenue is exposed to commodity price fluctuations, specifically iron ore prices. The Company measures
exposure to commodity price risk by monitoring and stress testing the Company’s forecast financial position to sustained periods
of low iron ore prices on a regular basis.
Trade receivables outstanding at year end are subject to commodity price risk due to potential changes in future iron ore prices. Due
to the low value of outstanding amounts at the reporting date, any potential impact is immaterial for the year ended 30 June 2013.
(iii) Interest rate risk
The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s secured loan facility
with a floating interest rate.
The following table summarises the sensitivity of interest bearing liabilities to a reasonably possible change in the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) on the Company’s profit before tax, with all other variables held constant.
Effect on profit
before tax

Effect on profit
before tax

2013
$

2012
$

Increase LIBOR 1.5%

(3,228)

NA

Decrease LIBOR 0.5%

1,076

NA

Weighted average USD LIBOR applicable for the financial year was 0.3%. The Henghou unsecured loan facility is not subject
to interest rate risk. The impact of interest rates on the Company’s financial position are reviewed regularly.
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(iv) Price risk
The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments held by the Company and classified in
the balance sheet as available-for-sale.
The price risk for the available-for-sale asset is immaterial in terms of the potential impact on profit or loss or total equity.
It has therefore not been included in a sensitivity analysis.
The Company’s equity investments are publicly traded on the ASX.

b. Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with financial institutions. For banks and financial institutions, only
independently rated parties with a minimum rating of “A” are accepted in accordance with ratings guidelines of major global
credit rating agencies. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for
losses, represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the fair value of any collateral or
other security obtained.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as summarised at the
beginning of this note. All receivables at 30 June 2013 were received within one month. There is no significant concentration of
credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific industry sectors and regions.
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings
(if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:
2013
$

2012
$

Trade receivables
Counterparties without external credit rating
Group 1

-

-

Group 2

17,837,257

18,883,210

Group 3

-

-

17,837,257

18,883,210

Group 1 – new customers (less than 6 months).
Group 2 – existing customers (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past.
Group 3 – existing customers (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past. All defaults were fully recovered.
Cash and cash equivalents
AA-

138,488,864

92,842,531

138,488,864

92,842,531

c. Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity management involves the maintenance of sufficient cash and access to capital markets. It is the policy of
the Board to ensure that the Company is able to meet its financial obligations and maintain the flexibility to pursue attractive
investment opportunities through keeping committed credit lines available where possible, ensuring the Company has sufficient
working capital and preserving the 15% share issue limit available to the Company under the ASX Listing Rules.
Financing arrangements
The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd has an amortising term loan facility denominated in USD.
Refer to Note 18 for further information.
The NJV has a USD50 million financing facility (USD25m Company share) with Henghou Industries (Hong Kong) Limited.
Refer to Note 18 for further details.
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NOTE 28 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Continued
Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities
The table below splits the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual maturities on
all non-derivative financial liabilities and are disclosed at their undiscounted amounts.
Less than
6 months

6 -12 months

1-5 years

Greater than
5 years

Contractual
cash flows

-

75,448,714

Carrying
amount

Year ended 30 June 2013
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Net maturity

75,291,714

-

157,000

6,525,484

31,300,823

69,376,194

- 107,202,501 103,338,508

75,448,714

81,817,198

31,300,823

69,533,194

- 182,651,215 178,787,222

43,434,235

-

1,175,000

-

44,609,235

43,726,201

4,926,108

-

14,778,325

-

19,704,433

16,671,231

48,360,343

-

15,953,325

-

64,313,668

60,397,432

Year ended 30 June 2012
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Net maturity

(d) Fair value measurement
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure
purposes. AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair
value measurement hierarchy:
(a) Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
(b) Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and
(c) Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2013.
2013
$

2012
$

Available-for-sale financial assets
Level 1

1,657,547

3,200,000

Level 2

-

-

Level 3

-

-

1,657,547

3,200,000

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available for
sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Company is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
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NOTE 29 - RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH
OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
2013
$
Profit for the financial year

2012
$

48,800,344

50,551,258

21,262,555

6,455,392

637,736

400,998

Release of exploration tenements

1,186,956

-

Impairment of available-for-sale assets

7,668,168

-

Finance costs

4,543,616

-

197,958

-

(33,658,596)

(12,099,462)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

(6,901,619)

4,672,009

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets

(9,240,201)

(1,739,340)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables

31,722,513

28,478,227

(Decrease)/increase in provision for income taxes payable

11,980,024

8,845,288

(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities

6,292,669

2,946,541

(Decrease)/increase in provisions

2,688,685

385,243

87,180,808

88,896,154

Non cash flows in operating profit
Depreciation and amortisation
Employee benefit - share based payment

Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables

Net cash inflows/(outflows) by operating activities
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NOTE 30 - SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
During the 2013, 2012 and 2011 financial years the Company provided share based payments to employees only, whereas
in the 2010 financial year they were also granted to consultants and financers. An employee share option incentive plan was
approved at the shareholder’s annual general meeting of 16 November 2011, and an employee performance rights plan was
approved at the shareholder’s annual general meeting of 19 November 2010.
Under the terms of these plans, the Board may offer options and performance rights at no more than nominal consideration to
employees or directors (the latter subject to shareholder approval) based on a number of criteria, including contribution to the
Company, period of employment, potential contribution to the Company in the future and other factors the Board considers
relevant. These long-term incentives are provided to certain employees at the discretion of the Board to deliver long-term
shareholder returns. Set out below is a summary of the options and performance rights granted by the Company.
2013 - Options

Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise price

Lapsed or
Balance at
Exercised forfeited during
1 July 2012 during the year
the year

Balance at
30 June 2013

Vesting date

Vested and
exercisable at
30 June 2013

Employee options
9/07/10

30/06/13

$2.39

50,000

(50,000)#

-

-

2/11/10

-

9/07/10

30/06/13

$2.64

50,000

(50,000)

9/07/10

30/06/13

$2.89

75,000

(75,000)

9/07/10

30/06/13

$3.14

20/01/12

31/12/14

$3.86

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.05

100,000

-

-

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.32

100,000

-

-

20/01/12

31/12/14

$3.86

50,000

-

-

50,000

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.05

100,000

-

-

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.32

100,000

-

-

22/06/12

30/06/15

$3.66

50,000

-

-

-

-

15/12/10

-

^

-

-

31/01/11

-

75,000

-

(75,000)

-

31/01/11

-

50,000

-

-

50,000

20/01/12

50,000

100,000

16/01/13

100,000

100,000

16/01/14

-

20/01/12

50,000

100,000

16/01/13

100,000

100,000

16/01/14

-

50,000

30/06/12

50,000

#

22/06/12

30/06/15

$3.83

100,000

-

-

100,000

30/06/13

100,000

22/06/12

30/06/15

$4.09

100,000

-

-

100,000

30/06/14

-

250,000

(250,000)*

-

-

31/12/10

-

31/12/10

Others options
12/04/10

19/02/15

$1.50

12/04/10

19/02/15

$1.50

Total
Weighted average exercise price

250,000
1,500,000
$2.99

(125,000)*
(550,000)
$1.87

-

125,000

(75,000)

875,000

575,000

125,000

$3.14

$3.68

$3.39

* Options exercised on 8 March 2013. Weighted average share price on this day was $3.82.
# Options exercised on 17 May 2013. Weighted average share price on this day was $3.24.
^ Options exercised on 12 June 2013. Weighted average share price on this day was $3.18.
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 1.4 years.
Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.
When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.
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2012 - Options

Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise price

Balance at
Granted
Exercised
1 July 2011 during the year during the year

Balance at
30 June 2012

Vesting date

Vested and
exercisable at
30 June 2012

Director options
17/07/08

15/08/11

$1.85

250,000

-

(250,000)

-

15/02/09

-

17/07/08

15/08/11

$2.00

250,000

-

(250,000)

-

15/02/10

-

1/08/09

1/08/12

$1.40

150,000

-

(150,000)

-

1/08/10

-

12/04/10

19/02/15

$1.50

250,000

-

-

250,000

31/12/10

250,000

12/04/10

19/02/15

$1.50

250,000

-

-

250,000

31/12/10

250,000

12/02/10

11/02/12

$1.35

6,000,000

-

(6,000,000)

-

6/07/10

-

12/02/10

11/02/12

$1.50

2,000,000

-

(2,000,000)

-

6/07/10

-

Others

Employee options
1/08/09

1/08/12

$1.25

30,000

-

(30,000)

-

16/04/09

-

1/08/09

1/08/12

$1.40

200,000

-

(200,000)

-

1/08/10

-

1/08/09

1/08/12

$1.60

200,000

-

(200,000)

-

31/01/11

-

5/11/09

5/11/12

$1.25

100,000

-

(100,000)

-

10/02/10

-

5/11/09

5/11/12

$1.50

150,000

-

(150,000)

-

5/11/10

-

5/11/09

5/11/12

$2.00

150,000

-

(150,000)

-

31/01/11

-

9/07/10

30/06/13

$2.39

50,000

-

-

50,000

2/11/10

50,000

9/07/10

30/06/13

$2.64

50,000

-

-

50,000

15/12/10

50,000

9/07/10

30/06/13

$2.89

75,000

-

-

75,000

31/01/11

75,000

9/07/10

30/06/13

$3.14

75,000

-

-

75,000

31/01/11

75,000

20/01/12

31/12/14

$3.86

-

50,000

-

50,000

20/01/12

50,000

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.05

-

100,000

-

100,000

16/01/13

-

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.32

-

100,000

-

100,000

16/01/14

-

20/01/12

31/12/14

$3.86

-

50,000

-

50,000

20/01/12

50,000

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.05

-

100,000

-

100,000

16/01/13

-

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.32

-

100,000

-

100,000

16/01/14

-

22/06/12

30/06/15

$3.66

-

50,000

-

50,000

30/06/12

50,000

22/06/12

30/06/15

$3.83

-

100,000

-

100,000

30/06/13

-

22/06/12

30/06/15

$4.09

-

100,000

-

100,000

30/06/14

-

10,230,000

750,000

(9,480,000)

1,500,000

900,000

$1.46

$4.05

$1.43

$2.99

$2.25

Total
Weighted average exercise price

a. Director option expense
Share options and performance rights have been granted to provide a long-term incentive for directors to deliver long-term
shareholder returns.

b. Other option expense
Share options were granted to consultants in 2010 for their services as consideration for the provision of services with respect to
broker support and capital raising costs. Options were also issued to Henghou Industries (Hong Kong) Limited in 2010 (refer to
Note 18). No options or performance rights were issued to consultants in 2013 (2012: Nil).

c. Employee option expense
Share options and performance rights have been granted to provide long-term incentive for senior employees to deliver long-term
shareholder returns. Participation in employee share options and performance rights is at the Board’s discretion and no individual
has a contractual right to participate in a plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.
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NOTE 30 - SHARE BASED PAYMENTS Continued
During the year the Company issued share based payments in the form of performance rights to directors and employees
as per below.
A Monte Carlo simulation has been used to value the performance rights. The Monte Carlo simulates the returns of the Company
in relation to the peer group and arrives at a value based on the number of rights that are likely to vest. The risk free rate of
the performance rights on the date granted is 2.68% (2012: 3.06%). Performance rights issued to key management personnel
vested during the period. Refer to the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report for more information.
2013 - Performance rights
Grant date

Expiry date

Granted during
the year

Vesting
date

Fair value at
grant date

Share price on
grant date

Life of
right

Expected
dividends

Director performance rights
31/08/12

1/09/19

86,508

30/06/14

$1.42

$2.35

7 years

0%

20/11/12

1/11/19

69,206

30/06/14

$1.80

$3.05

7 years

0%

262,136

30/06/14

$1.42

$2.35

7 years

0%

Granted during
the year

Vesting
date

Fair value at
grant date

Share price on
grant date

Life of
right

Employee performance rights
31/08/12

1/09/19

2012 - Performance rights
Grant date

Expiry date

Expected
dividends

Director performance rights
1/12/11

16/11/18

61,856

30/06/13

$1.57

$2.35

7 years

0%

1/12/11

16/11/18

45,361

30/06/13

$1.57

$2.35

7 years

0%

128,885

30/06/13

$1.57

$2.35

7 years

0%

Employee performance rights
1/12/11

16/11/18

No options were issued in financial year 2013.
2012 - Options

Grant
date

Expiry
date

Exercise
price

Vesting
date

Fair value
at grant
date of
options

Share
price on
grant date

Expected
volatility

Option
life

Expected
dividends

50,000 20/01/12

Granted
during the
year

Risk free
interest
rate

Employee options
20/01/12

31/12/14

$3.86

1.02

$2.69

70%

2.9 years

0%

3.24%

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.05

100,000

16/01/13

0.99

$2.69

70%

2.9 years

0%

3.24%

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.32

100,000 16/01/14

0.94

$2.69

70%

2.9 years

0%

3.24%

20/01/12

31/12/14

$3.86

50,000 20/01/12

1.02

$2.69

70%

2.9 years

0%

3.24%

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.05

100,000

16/01/13

0.99

$2.69

70%

2.9 years

0%

3.24%

20/01/12

31/12/14

$4.32

100,000 16/01/14

0.94

$2.69

70%

2.9 years

0%

3.24%

22/06/12

30/06/15

$3.66

50,000 30/06/12

0.60

$2.50

50%

3 years

0%

2.33%

22/06/12

30/06/15

$3.83

100,000 30/06/13

0.56

$2.50

50%

3 years

0%

2.33%

22/06/12

30/06/15

$4.09

100,000 30/06/14

0.52

$2.50

50%

3 years

0%

2.33%

d. Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payments recognised during the financial period as part of employee benefits expense
were as follows.
2013
$

2012
$

92,162

61,847

Employee benefits

545,575

339,151

Total

637,737

400,998

Director benefits
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NOTE 31 - INTEREST IN JOINT ARRANGEMENT
a. Jointly controlled operations
On 1 January 2010, the Company and Fortescue Metals Group Ltd (“FMG”) commenced a 50:50 Joint Venture to develop the
Nullagine Iron Ore Project in the East Pilbara of Western Australia.
The Company announced on 10 December 2012 that it had entered into an agreement with FMG to acquire an additional 25%
interest in the NJV. As part of the transaction, the Company increased its participating interest in the NJV from 50% to 75%, and
made a once-off prepayment of rail haulage and port charges for 3.5 million tonnes (wet) of its share of production from the NJV.
The total consideration paid by the Company to FMG was $190 million (including the rail and port prepayment), plus a limited
price participation arrangement payable to FMG if certain iron ore price conditions are met. This was estimated at $14.3
million and is included in trade and other payables. At the acquisition date the consideration paid gave rise to a surplus over
net assets. As part of the fair value allocation of the assets acquired, this surplus was assigned to mine properties. No goodwill
was recognised as part of the transaction.
The total consideration plus associated transaction costs was funded using a combination of cash, USD130 million debt facility
(refer Note 18) and $57 million in equity through an underwritten placement and share purchase plan (refer Note 20).
The Company’s interest in the assets and liabilities of the NJV are included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in
accordance with accounting policies described in Note 1. The Company has a 75% (2012: 50%) share of the following NJV
100% financial position, excluding loans and borrowings which are recorded at 50% (2012: 50%).
2013
$

2012
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

28,109,860

20,208,265

Trade and other receivables

3,371,165

4,619,016

15,004,361

8,703,304

1,375

1,375

46,486,761

33,531,960

98,044,516

99,059,817

9,784,849

5,688,942

45,531,264

45,529,810

Total non-current assets

153,360,629

150,278,569

Total assets

199,847,390

183,810,529

57,731,542

55,103,824

-

9,852,219

1,551,944

-

59,283,486

64,956,043

-

2,350,000

Provisions

3,738,105

2,611,672

Loans and borrowings

2,192,675

31,749,326

Inventory
Other financial assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation assets
Mine properties

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

5,930,780

36,710,998

65,214,266

101,667,041

134,633,124

82,143,488
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NOTE 31 - INTEREST IN JOINT ARRANGEMENT Continued
b. Mining tenement leases
2013
$

2012
$

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements the Company is required to perform minimum exploration
work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements specified by the WA State Government and pay tenement lease rents.
The estimated exploration expenditure commitment for the ensuing year, but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements:
Within one year

952,337

1,277,702

5,263,897

6,915,809

-

-

6,216,234

8,193,511

Within one year

-

6,431,000

Greater than one year but not more than five years

-

2,350,000

More than five years

-

-

-

8,781,000

Greater than one year but not more than five years
More than five years

c. Capital commitments
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NOTE 32 - PARENT ENTITY
The following details information related to the parent entity, BC Iron Limited, as at 30 June 2013. The information presented
here has been prepared using accounting policies consistent with those presented in Note 1.
2013
$

2012
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

43,874,979

32,072,690

114,617,466

55,393,090

-

25,000

158,492,445

87,490,780

Plant and equipment

323,853

254,637

Exploration and evaluation assets

215,891

1,363,406

Deferred tax assets

966,044

159,594

Other financial assets

16,632,360

16,632,360

Total non-current assets

18,138,148

18,409,997

176,630,593

105,900,777

Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provision for income tax
Total current liabilities

1,408,705

1,229,259

(1,513,405)

8,845,288

(104,700)

10,074,547

32,223

-

Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

32,223

-

(72,477)

10,074,547

176,703,070

95,826,230

129,300,436

72,036,767

Shareholders' equity
Issued capital
Reserves

4,543,514

3,905,777

42,859,120

19,883,686

176,703,070

95,826,230

Other income

49,557,815

31,734,267

Total expenses

(6,328,588)

(4,670,344)

1,480,577

460,163

Profit for the year

44,709,804

27,524,086

Total comprehensive income for the year

44,709,804

27,524,086

Retained earnings
Total shareholders' equity

Income tax benefit/(expense)

Included in Note 24 are commitments incurred by the parent entity relating to the lease of offices in West Perth, Western Australia,
under a non-cancellable operating lease expiring August 2016.
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NOTE 33 - DIVIDENDS
2013
$

2012
$

Dividend paid during the financial year (fully franked at 30 per cent)
Final franked dividend for 2012: $0.15 (2011: $0.00)

15,579,150

-

6,155,220

-

21,734,370

-

37,036,089

15,579,150

Franking credits available for subsequent periods

(21,369,372)

(8,845,288)

Impact on franking credits of dividends proposed

15,872,609

6,676,778

99,000

80,000

50,314

67,143

149,314

147,143

Interim franked dividend for 2013: $0.05 (2012: $0.00)
Total dividends paid
Dividend declared not recognised as a liability (fully franked at 30 per cent)
Final franked dividend for 2013: $0.30 (2012: $0.15)
Franking credit balance

The franking credit balance is based on estimated tax payable for the 2013 financial year.

NOTE 34 - AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The auditor of BC Iron Limited is BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd.
Amounts received or due and receivable by BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd for:
Audit or review of financial reports for the Company
Amounts received or due and receivable by related entities of BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd for:
Non audit services - tax compliance

NOTE 35 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
A fully franked dividend of 30 cents per share resulting in a dividend payment of $37,036,089 was declared for a payment
date of 24 September 2013. The dividend has not been provided for in the 30 June 2013 full-year financial statements.

NOTE 36 - SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of BC Iron Limited and the subsidiaries listed in the
following table:
Country of
incorporation
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Functional
currency

Beneficial interest
2013 %

2012 %

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

Australia

AUD

100

100

BC Iron (SA) Pty Ltd

Australia

AUD

100

0

NOTE 37 - KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE
a. Key management personnel compensation
2013
$

2012
$

Short-term employee benefits

1,874,656

1,537,860

Long-term employee benefits

75,937

-

Termination payments
Share based payments
Post-employment benefits

73,387

-

181,021

89,203

50,831

54,939

2,255,832

1,682,002

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration section of the Directors’ Report.

b. Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel
The interests of key management personnel in shares, share options and performance rights at the end of the financial period
are as follows.
2013 - Shares

Balance at
1 July 2012

Received
during year
- exercise of
options

A Kiernan

874,463

-

(181,109)

693,354

M Young

961,564

-

(300,000)

661,564

M Ball

278,000

-

(141,577)

136,423

T Ransted

622,601

-

3,891

626,492

30,000

-

3,891

33,891

-

-

-

-

1,000

-

-

1,000

2,767,628

-

(614,904)

2,152,724

Balance at
1 July 2011

Received
during year
- exercise of
options

A Kiernan

1,114,133

-

(239,670)

874,463

M Young

1,273,001

500,000

(811,437)

961,564

M Ball

278,000

-

-

278,000

T Ransted

622,601

-

-

622,601

M McComas

-

-

30,000

30,000

A Haslam

-

-

-

-

5,000

-

(4,000)

1,000

3,292,735

500,000

(1,025,107)

2,767,628

Shares

Other
Balance at
changes 30 June 2013

Directors

M McComas
A Haslam
Executives
B Duncan
Total
2012 - Shares

Shares

Other
Balance at
changes 30 June 2012

Directors

Executives
B Duncan
Total

No options were issued to key management personnel in financial year 2013.
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NOTE 37 - KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE Continued
2012 - Options

Options

Balance at
Granted as
1 July 2011 compensation

Exercised

Options
lapsed /
Balance at
cancelled 30 June 2012

Vested and
exercisable at
30 June 2012

Unvested

Directors
A Kiernan

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

M Young

500,000

-

(500,000)

-

-

-

-

M Ball

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

T Ransted

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

M McComas

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

A Haslam

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

500,000

-

(500,000)

-

-

-

-

Converted to Rights lapsed
Balance at
shares
/ cancelled 30 June 2013

Vested at
30 June 2013

Executives
B Duncan
Total

2013 - Performance rights
Performance
rights

Balance at
Granted as
1 July 2012 compensation

Unvested

Directors
A Kiernan

-

-

-

-

M Young

61,856

86,508

-

(148,364)

-

-

-

M Ball

45,361

69,206

-

-

114,567

45,361

69,206

T Ransted

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

M McComas

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

A Haslam

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

47,423

64,881

-

-

112,304

47,423

64,881

154,640

220,595

-

(148,364)

226,871

92,784

134,087

Converted to Rights lapsed Balance at 30
shares
/ cancelled
June 2012

Vested at
30 June 2012

-

-

-

Executives
B Duncan
Total

2012 - Performance rights
Performance
rights

Balance at
Granted as
1 July 2011 compensation

Unvested

Directors
A Kiernan

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

M Young

61,856

-

-

-

61,856

-

61,856

M Ball

45,361

-

-

-

45,361

-

45,361

T Ransted

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

M McComas

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

A Haslam

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

47,423

-

-

-

47,423

-

47,423

154,640

-

-

-

154,640

-

154,640

Executives
B Duncan
Total

c. Other transactions with key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out below. The following transactions occurred with related parties.
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms no more favourable than those available to other parties
unless otherwise stated.
2013
$
Professional fees paid to A Kiernan (director) for services in excess of normal director duties.

52,500

An amount of $17,500 (2012: Nil) was outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties.
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2012
$
7,500

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Tel: +8 6382 4600
Fax: +8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BC IRON LIMITED
Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of BC Iron Limited, which comprises the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2013, the consolidated statement of
profit and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of
the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or
from time to time during the financial year.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001,
which has been given to the directors of BC Iron Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the
directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO (Australia) Ltd ABN 77 050
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO (Australia) Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
Legislation (other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT AND
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE
BC Iron Limited Annual Report 2013

85

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Continued

Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of BC Iron Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June
2013 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;
and
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30
June 2013. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of
the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
Opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of BC Iron Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Phillip Murdoch
Director
Perth, Western Australia
Dated this 27th day of August 2013
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE
Tel: +8 6382 4600
Fax: +8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

27 August 2013
The Directors
BC Iron Limited
Level 1, 15 Rheola Street
West Perth WA 6005

Dear Sirs,
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY PHILLIP MURDOCH TO THE DIRECTORS OF BC IRON LIMITED
As lead auditor of BC Iron Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013, I declare that, to the best of my
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:
•

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;
and

•

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of BC Iron Limited and the entities it controlled during the year.

PHILLIP MURDOCH
Director
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd
Perth, Western Australia

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO (Australia) Ltd ABN 77 050
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO (Australia) Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
Legislation (other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
BC Iron Limited (“Company”) has made it a priority to adopt systems of control and accountability as the basis for the administration
of its corporate governance. Some of these policies and procedures are summarised in this statement. Commensurate with the
spirit of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations
with 2010 amendments (“ASX Principles and Recommendations”), the Company has followed each such Recommendation
where the Board has considered the Recommendation to be an appropriate benchmark for its corporate governance practices.
Where, after due consideration, the Company’s corporate governance practices depart from a Recommendation, the Board
has offered full disclosure and reason for the adoption of its own practice, in compliance with the “if not, why not” regime. This
corporate governance statement sets out the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices for the reporting period.
Further information about the Company’s corporate governance practices including relevant information on the
Company’s charters, code of conduct and other policies and procedures is set out on the Company’s website at
www.bciron.com.au/corporate/corporate-governance.

ASX Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight.
Recommendation 1.1 - Companies should establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
senior executives and disclose those functions.
The Company has established the functions reserved to the Board and senior executives and has set out these functions in its
Board Charter, which is available on the Company’s website on the Corporate Governance page.
Senior executives are responsible for reporting all matters which fall within the Company’s materiality thresholds at first
instance to the Managing Director or, if the matter concerns the Managing Director, then directly to the Chairman or the lead
independent director, as appropriate.

Recommendation 1.2 - Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives.
The Chairman, in consultation with the other Board members, is responsible for evaluating the Managing Director. The
performance evaluation of the Managing Director is undertaken by the Chairman in the form of interviews with the Managing
Director and other Directors. Other senior executives are evaluated by the Managing Director including consultation and
feedback from the Board. During the reporting period a performance evaluation of senior executives did occur in accordance
with the above disclosed process.

ASX Principle 2 – Structure the board to add value.
Recommendation 2.1 - A majority of the Board should be independent directors.
In considering the independence of directors, the Board refers to the criteria for independence as set out in Box 2.1 of the
ASX Principles and Recommendations (Independence Criteria). To the extent that it is necessary for the Board to consider
issues of materiality, the Board refers to the thresholds for qualitative and quantitative materiality as adopted by the Board and
contained in the Board Charter, which is disclosed in full on the Company’s website.
Notification of departure
Applying the independence criteria of the Recommendation, the independent directors of the Company are Mr Kiernan, Mr
Ransted and Mr Haslam.
Mr Ball, Mr Young, Mr McComas and Mr Gibson are not independent within the Recommendation. During the reporting
period Mr Gibson was a director, and due to his association with a major shareholder, he was not deemed to be an
independent director. Mr Gibson has since resigned.
Explanation for departure
Mr Ball is an Executive Director and is, therefore, not independent.
Mr Young, who is now a Non-Executive Director, has previously been employed in an executive capacity by the Company,
and there has not been a period of at least three years between ceasing such employment and serving on the Board.
Accordingly, he is deemed to not be an independent director.
Mr McComas is a Non-Executive Director of Consolidated Minerals Pty Ltd (“Consmin”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company. As an officer of a substantial shareholder of the Company (albeit non-executive) he is deemed to not be an
independent director.
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Mr Gibson is Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director of Regent Pacific Group (“Regent”), a former substantial
shareholder of the Company. As an officer of a substantial shareholder of the Company, he was deemed to not be an
independent director during his tenure. As noted, Mr Gibson has since resigned.
The Board notes the potential for conflict and has established a Conflict of Interest Protocol which will apply in matters where
Consmin and/or Regent are, or were, involved. In such circumstances Mr McComas and Mr Gibson would declare such
interest and not participate in the decision making process unless otherwise allowed by the Board, as is required under the
Corporations Act 2001.
Notwithstanding the above, the Board considers that Mr McComas and Mr Young are, and Mr Gibson was, capable of
exercising independent judgement.

Recommendation 2.2 - The chair should be an independent director.
Applying the Independence Criteria, Mr Kiernan, the Chairman of the Company, is an independent director.

Recommendation 2.3 - The roles of Chair and Managing Director should not be exercised by the same individual.
The role of Chairman and Managing Director are carried out by different persons, namely Mr Kiernan and Mr Ball respectively.

Recommendation 2.4 - The Board should establish a nomination committee.
Notification of departure
A separate nomination committee has not been formed.
Explanation for departure
The responsibilities of a nomination committee are carried out by the full Board. The Board considers that at this stage, no
efficiencies or other benefits would be gained by establishing a separate nomination committee. To assist the Board to
fulfil its function as a nomination committee, it has adopted a nomination committee charter which is disclosed in full on the
Company’s website on the corporate governance page.

Recommendation 2.5 - Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its
committees and individual directors.
The Chairman is responsible for evaluation of the Board and, when appropriate, Board committees and individual directors.
Evaluations are undertaken by way of round-table discussions, Board evaluation questionnaires, utilising independent
consultants and, when appropriate, one-on-one interviews.

Recommendation 2.6 - Companies should provide information relating to Principle 2 in the corporate governance
statement in the annual report.
In addition to the information above, the following information in relation to Principle 2 is provided.
a) Expertise of directors. A profile of each director containing their skills, experience, expertise and term of office is set out in
the Directors’ Report on page 23 of the Annual Report.
b) Independent professional advice. If a director considers it necessary to obtain independent professional advice to properly
discharge the responsibility of his office as a director, then, provided the director first obtains approval for incurring such
expense from the Chairman, the Company will pay the reasonable expenses associated with obtaining such advice.
c) Performance evaluation. A formal evaluation of individual Board members was not carried out during the reporting period.
However, internal reviews and discussions were held.
d) Selection and re-appointment of directors. In determining additional Board appointments, the Board considers the balance
of independent directors on the Board as well as the skills and qualifications of potential candidates that will best enhance
the Board’s effectiveness.
Each director (excluding the Managing Director) must retire from office no later than the longer of the third annual general
meeting of the company or 3 years following that director’s last election or appointment. At each annual general meeting a
minimum of one director or a third of the total number of directors must resign. A director who retires at an annual general
meeting is eligible for re-election at that meeting.
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ASX Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision-making.
Recommendation 3.1 - Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the
code as to the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s integrity, the practices necessary to take
into account their legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders, and the responsibility
and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.
The Company has established a code of conduct. A summary is available on the Company’s website www.bciron.com.au/
corporate/corporate-governance.
The Company also has established policies for whistleblower protection and trading in the Company’s securities by directors,
senior executives and employees.

Recommendation 3.2 - Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a
summary of that policy. The policy should include requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for
achieving gender diversity and for the board to assess annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them.
The Company has established a Diversity Policy which embraces a corporate culture supporting equal opportunity and
diversity when determining the composition of employees, senior management and the Board. A summary is available on the
Company’s website on the corporate governance page.

Recommendation 3.3 - Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving
gender diversity set by the board in accordance with the diversity policy, and progress towards achieving them.
The Board maintains full transparency of board processes, reviews and appointments and encourages gender diversity.
The Company’s measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and progress towards achieving them include:
Measurable Objectives

Progress towards achievement

Procedural/Structural
Forming a diversity committee.

The Company has established a diversity committee which is comprised of
Board members and a Diversity Contact Officer (currently the Company’s
Human Resources Manager).

Targets
Increase the proportion of women in particular
initiatives or programmes.

The following Company policies have been implemented and are actively
monitored; Equal Opportunity Policy; Study and Educational Assistance
Policy; and Anti-Discrimination Policy.

Initiatives and programmes
Introducing alternative workplace arrangements
and improving workplace flexibility.

Flexible workplace arrangements policy is actively implemented.

Providing support for family and personal choices.

Providing a culture which not only supports workplace diversity but also recognises
that employees at all levels of the Company may have domestic responsibilities
through the Employee Assistance programme, Study and Educational Assistance
Programme and the Flexible Workplace Arrangements Policy.

Utilisation of professional intermediaries to
assess candidates.

Commitment to a corporate environment conducive to the appointment of well
qualified employees, senior management and Board candidates so there is
appropriate diversity to maximise the achievement of corporate goals. Use of
independent professionals as appropriate.

Recommendation 3.4 – Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of women employees in
the whole organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the board.
As at 30 June 2013 there were 5 women in senior executive positions in the Company, representing 33% of senior management,
and 24 women employees across the Company, representing 37% of the whole organisation. There are no women on the
Board at this time.
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ASX Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting.
Recommendations 4.1 and 4.2 – The board should establish an audit committee which is structured so that it: (a)
consists only of non-executive directors, (b) consists of a majority of independent directors, (c) is chaired by an
independent director, who is not chair of the board, and (d) has at least three members.
The Audit Committee held two meetings during the reporting period. The Directors’ Report identifies directors who are
members of the Audit Committee and shows their attendance at committee meetings (refer to page 27 of the Annual Report).
Details of each of the director’s qualifications are set out in the Director’s Report.
Notification of departure
The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr McComas who, as detailed above, although a Non-Executive Director of the Company,
may be deemed to be not independent under the ASX Recommendations.
Explanation for departure
The Company has established an Audit Committee made up three members. Of these members, Mr McComas is the most
suitably experienced and qualified director for the role of chair of the Audit Committee.
The Board considers that Mr McComas is capable of demonstrating independence, consistently making decisions and taking
action designed to be in the best interest of the Audit Committee.
All of the members of the Audit Committee are financially literate and have industry experience.

Recommendation 4.3 - The audit committee should have a formal charter.
The Board has adopted an Audit Committee charter, which the Audit Committee applies when convening. The Audit Committee
charter makes provision for the audit committee to meet with the external auditor, as and when required. A copy of the Audit
Committee charter is available on the Company’s website at www.bciron.com.au/corporate/corporate-governance.

ASX Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure.
Recommendation 5.1 - Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX
Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance
and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies.
The Company has established a written disclosure policy designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure
requirements and ensures accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance.
A copy of the Company’s disclosure policy is available on the Company’s website at www.bciron.com.au/corporate/
corporate-governance.

ASX Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders.
Recommendation 6.1 - Companies should design a communications policy for promoting effective communication
with shareholders and encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary
of that policy.
The Company has designed a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders and
encouraging shareholder participation at general meetings.
A copy of the shareholder communication policy is available on the Company’s website at www.bciron.com.au/corporate/
corporate-governance.

ASX Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk.
Recommendation 7.1 - Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material business
risks and disclose a summary of those policies.
The Board has adopted an Operational Risk Management Framework, which sets out the Company’s risk profile and
management. Under the framework, the Board, through a Risk Management Committee, is responsible for approving the
Company’s policies on risk oversight and management and satisfying itself that management has developed and implemented
a sound system of risk management and internal control.
Under the framework, the Board delegates day-to-day management of risk to the Managing Director, who is responsible for
identifying, assessing, monitoring and managing risks. The Managing Director is also responsible for updating the Company’s
material business risks to reflect any material changes, with the approval of the Board.
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Recommendation 7.2 - The Board should require management to design and implement the risk management and
internal control system to manage the Company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are
being managed effectively. The Board should disclose that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness
of the Company’s management of its material business risks.
In February 2012, the senior executives of the Company participated in an independently facilitated risk management
workshop. Risks were identified and assessed with respect to the following categories - description of potential risk, likelihood,
consequence, mitigating practices and controls, and control rating. A Board Risk Management Committee meeting was held
to review the results.
The resulting risk register is reviewed each quarter by senior management and provided to the full Board as well as the Board
Risk Management Committee.
The full Board has received confirmation from the Board Risk Management Committee through quarterly management reviews,
as to the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business risks.
In addition, the following risk management measures have been adopted by the Board to manage the Company’s material
business risks:
•
•
•
•

an annual budget and variances from budget are reported to the Board;
authority limits established for management which must not be exceed unless prior Board approval is obtained;
a compliance procedure for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the Company’s continuous disclosure obligations; and
a corporate governance manual which contains other policies to assist the Company to establish and maintain its
governance practices.

Recommendation 7.3 - The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the Chief Executive
Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance
with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control
and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.
The Managing Director and General Manager - Finance have provided a declaration to the Board in accordance with section
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 and has assured the Board that such declaration is founded on a sound system of risk
management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial risk.

ASX Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly.
Recommendations 8.1 and 8.2 - The Board should establish a remuneration committee which should be structured
so that it: (a) consists of a majority of independent directors, (b) is chaired by an independent director, and (c) has
at least three members.
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee made up of independent directors only, chaired by an independent
director and has 3 members.
A copy of the Remuneration Committee Charter is available on the Company’s website.

Recommendation 8.3 - Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration
from that of executive directors and senior executives.
Details of director and senior executive remuneration, including the Company’s policy on remuneration, are contained in the
Remuneration Report which forms a part of the Directors’ Report (refer to page 36 of the Annual Report).
Details of each of the director’s qualifications are set out in the Director’s Report.

Recommendation 8.4 - Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8.
In addition to the information above, the following information in relation to principle eight is provided.
The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the reporting period. The Directors’ Report identifies directors who
are members of the Remuneration Committee and shows their attendance at committee meetings (refer to page 27 of the
Annual Report).
Non-executive directors are remunerated at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities in consultation with
independent professional advice. Remuneration for non-executive directors is not linked to individual performance. There are
no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive directors.
Pay and rewards for executive directors and senior executives consists of a base pay and benefits (such as superannuation)
as well as short-term and long-term incentives. Executives are offered a competitive level of base pay at market rates and are
reviewed annually to ensure market competitiveness.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
AS AT 11 SEPTEMBER 2013
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Substantial shareholders as disclosed in substantial notices given to the company are as follows:
Shareholder

Shares held % of issued capital

Henghou Industries (Hong Kong) Limited
Tribeca Investment Partners Pty Ltd
National Australia Bank Limited
AustralianSuper Pty Ltd
Ausbil Dexia Limited
BT Investment Management Limited

9,007,263
7,730,405
7,546,326
7,522,827
7,359,763
6,326,979

7.3
6.3
6.1
6.1
6.0
5.1

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Size of shareholding

Number of holders Number of shares % of issued capital

1-1,000
1,001-5,000
5,001-10,000
10,001 – 100,000
100,001 and over
Total

801
1,343
526
432
52
3,154

405,861
3,758,569
4,025,349
10,305,200
105,133,651
123,628,630

0.3
3.0
3.3
8.4
85.0
100.0

UNMARKETABLE PARCELS
There were 182 members holding less than a marketable parcel of shares in the Company.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholder

Shares held % of issued capital

National Nominees Limited
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited
Henghou Industries (Hong Kong) Limited
Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd <Settlement Entrepot A/C>
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <Colonial First State Inv A/C>
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited <Cash Income A/C>
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited <NT-Comnwlth Super Corp A/C>
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd
AMP Life Limited
Bainpro Nominees Pty Limited
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <DRP>
Woodross Nominees Pty Ltd
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – A/C 3
RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <Bkcust A/C>
Dr Mark Emmerson Bailey
RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <Piselect>
Mr Timothy Simon Blake
Kyim Pty Ltd <Ransted Family A/C>
Total

27,658,558
23,586,412
13,040,513
8,089,178
4,471,941
3,788,439
3,087,738
3,023,986
1,846,532
1,593,003
1,389,364
1,180,522
1,148,732
1,054,501
876,449
668,796
600,000
591,916
525,322
516,667
98,738,569

22.4
19.1
10.6
6.5
3.6
3.1
2.5
2.5
1.5
1.3
1.1
1.0
0.9
0.8
0.7
0.5
0.5
0.5
0.4
0.4
79.9

VOTING RIGHTS
All issued shares carry voting rights on a one for one basis.

UNLISTED SECURITIES
Security type
Options
Performance rights

Class

Number Number of holders
2
1

700,000
331,342

3
13

BC Iron Limited Annual Report 2013

93

TENEMENT SCHEDULE
11 SEPTEMBER 2013

Tenement Number Registered Title Holder

94

BCI Interests

EL 46/522

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% with the exception of all diamond rights within the land the subject
of the tenement and subject to Vaalbara Resources holding an 80% interest in
Witwatersrand style mineralisation meaning gold, silver and uranium in particular
but not including diamonds, on the tenement. In addition iron rights are held 75%
BCI and 25% FMG.

EL 46/523

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% with the exception of all diamond rights within the land the subject
of the tenement and subject to Vaalbara Resources holding an 80% interest in
Witwatersrand style mineralisation meaning gold, silver and uranium in particular
but not including diamonds, on the tenement. In addition iron rights are held 75%
BCI and 25% FMG.

EL 46/524

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% with the exception of all diamond rights within the land the subject
of the tenement and subject to Vaalbara Resources holding an 80% interest in
Witwatersrand style mineralisation meaning gold, silver and uranium in particular
but not including diamonds, on the tenement

EL 45/2552

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 45/2717

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/651

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/652

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/653

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/654

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/655

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/656

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/657

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/658

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/663

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 45/3790

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/928

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/929

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/930

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/931

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG

EL 46/969

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG
Exploration Licence Applications

EL 46/970

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCIN and 25% FMG
Exploration Licence Applications

ML 46/515

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCI and 25% FMG

Tenement Number Registered Title Holder

BCI Interests

ML(A) 46/522

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCI and 25% FMG

ML(A) 46/523

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% with the exception of iron rights which are held 75% BCI and 25% FMG

GPL 46/8

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% Nullagine Project General Purpose Lease

GPL 46/9

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% Nullagine Project General Purpose Lease

L 46/68

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/73

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/74

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/75

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/76

BC Iron Limited

BCI 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/79

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/80

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/81

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/82

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/83

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/84

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/85

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/93

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/94

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence

L 46/95

BC Iron Nullagine Pty Ltd

BCIN 100% Nullagine Project Miscellaneous Licence
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY
BC Iron Limited
ABN 21 120 646 924

Registered office and principle place of business

Share Registry

Level 1
15 Rheola Street, West Perth
Western Australia 6005

Investors seeking information about their shareholdings
should contact the Company’s share registry:

Telephone:
Facsimile:
Website:
Email:

+61 (08) 6311 3400
+61 (08) 6311 3449
www.bciron.com.au
info@bciron.com.au

Postal Address
GPO Box 2811
Perth, Western Australia 6001

Executive directors
Morgan Ball - Managing Director

Non-executive directors
Anthony Kiernan - Chairman
Andrew Haslam
Malcolm McComas
Terry Ransted
Michael Young

Company Secretaries
Anthea Bird
Linda Edge
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Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Level 2, 45 St Georges Terrace
Perth, Western Australia 6000
Postal address:
GPO Box 2975
Melbourne, Victoria 3001
Telephone:
Within Australia:
International:
Facsimile:
Email:
Website:

1300 850 505
+61 3 9415 4000
+61 (08) 9323 2033
web.queries@computershare.com.au
www.investor centre.com/contact

The share registry can assist with queries on share transfers,
dividend payments and changes of name, address or bank
account details.
For security reasons you will need your Security Reference
Number (SRN) or Holder Identification Number (HIN) when
communicating with the share registry.

Australian Securities Exchange listing
BC Iron Limited securities are listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange (ASX) under the code BCI.

Annual General Meeting
The 2013 Annual General Meeting of BC Iron Limited
will be held at 10am (AWST) on
Tuesday, 12 November 2013
at The Celtic Club - 48 Ord Street,
West Perth, Western Australia.
Details of the business of the meeting will be
provided in the AGM notice.
Copies of the Chairman’s and Managing Director’s speeches
will be available on the Company’s website.

Financial calendar*
Record date for final dividend
Final dividend paid
First quarter 2014 report
Annual General Meeting
Half-year end
Second quarter 2014 report
Half-year profit announcement
Record date for interim dividend
Interim dividend payable
Third quarter 2014 report
Year end
*Timing of events is subject to change.

9 September 2013
24 September 2013
24 October 2013
12 November 2013
31 December 2013
January 2014
February 2014
February 2014
March 2014
April 2014
30 June 2014

